Sharp Hardy-type inequalities for non-compact harmonic manifolds and Damek-Ricci spaces

Florian Fischer¹ and Norbert Peyerimhoff²

¹Institute of Mathematics, University of Potsdam, Germany, florifis@uni-potsdam.de ²Department of Mathematical Sciences, Durham University, Great Britain, norbert.peyerimhoff@durham.ac.uk

August 28, 2023

Abstract

We show various sharp Hardy-type inequalities for the linear and quasi-linear Laplacian on non-compact harmonic manifolds with a particular focus on the case of Damek-Ricci spaces. Our methods make use of the optimality theory developed by Devyver/Fraas/Pinchover and Devyver/Pinchover and are motivated by corresponding results for hyperbolic spaces by Berchio/Ganguly/Grillo, and Berchio/Ganguly/Grillo/Pinchover.

MSC 2020: 26D10, 31C12, 58J60

Keywords: Harmonic manifolds, Damek-Ricci spaces, optimal Hardy inequalities, Poincaré-Hardy inequalities, *P*-Laplacians

Contents

1	Intr	oduction	2
2	A F	oincaré-Hardy-type inequality and applications	6
	2.1	Some background from Optimality Theory	6
	2.2	Proof of the Poincaré-Hardy-type inequality	8
	2.3	Applications of the Poincaré-Hardy-type inequality	13
		2.3.1 A Heisenberg-Pauli-Weyl's Uncertainty Principle	13
		2.3.2 A Poincaré-Rellich-type inequality	14
3 Variations of the main result			15
	3.1	A family of Hardy-type inequalities	15
	3.2	Weighted Hardy-type inequalities	18
	3.3	A Poincaré-Hardy-type inequality for the <i>P</i> -Laplacian	20

4	And	other Poincaré-Hardy-type inequality for the P-Laplacian	23
	4.1	The Green function of the P-Laplacian on a non-compact har-	
		monic manifold	23
	4.2	A Poincaré-Hardy-type inequality for the <i>P</i> -Laplacian based on	
		the P -Green function	25
٨	Nor	n-compact harmonic manifolds and Damek-Ricci spaces	29
\mathbf{H}	TONT	i-compact narmonic mannolus and Damek-Ricci spaces	- 49

1 Introduction

The aim of this article is to derive Hardy-type inequalities for the Laplacian on non-compact harmonic manifolds and, in particular, Damek-Ricci spaces, and to discuss applications in the same spirit as in Devyver/Fraas/Pinchover [18], Devyver/Pinchover [19], Berchio/Ganguly/Grillo [8] and Berchio/Ganguly/Grillo/ Pinchover [9]. The two latter papers focus mainly on the real hyperbolic space $\mathbb{H}^n = \mathbb{H}^n(\mathbb{R})$ with $n \geq 3$. The starting point is the classical Euclidean Hardy inequality

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\nabla \phi(x)|^2 \, dx \ge \frac{(n-2)^2}{4} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{\phi^2(x)}{|x|^2} \, dx$$

for all smooth and compactly supported functions $\phi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $n \geq 3$ (see, e.g., [6, Cor. 1.2.6] for p = 2). This inequality was generalised by G. Carron [13, Prop. 2.1] to arbitrary *n*-dimensional Cartan-Hadamard manifolds X (that is, complete and simply connected Riemannian manifolds (X, g) of non-positive curvature) with $|x|^2$ replaced by $d(o, x)^2$, where $o \in X$ is an arbitrary point (pole) and *d* is the Riemannian distance function on X.

One of the main results in [8] is the following Poincaré-Hardy inequality for the *n*-dimensional real hyperbolic spaces $\mathbb{H}^n = \mathbb{H}^n(\mathbb{R})$, which can be seen as a variation of Carron's Hardy inequality for Cartan-Hadamard manifolds with an additional term in this special case (see [8, Theorem 2.1]): Given $n \geq 3$ and any point $o \in \mathbb{H}^n$, we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{H}^{n}} |\nabla \phi(x)|^{2} dx \geq \lambda_{0}(\mathbb{H}^{n}) \int_{\mathbb{H}^{n}} \phi^{2}(x) dx + \frac{1}{4} \int_{\mathbb{H}^{n}} \frac{\phi^{2}(x)}{d(o, x)^{2}} dx + \frac{(n-1)(n-3)}{4} \int_{\mathbb{H}^{n}} \frac{\phi^{2}(x)}{\sinh^{2} d(o, x)} dx \quad (1.1)$$

for all functions $\phi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{H}^n)$. Here $\lambda_0(\mathbb{H}^n)$ denotes the bottom of the spectrum of the (positive) Laplacian $-\Delta = -\operatorname{div} \circ \nabla$ on \mathbb{H}^n , which is known to be $\frac{(n-1)^2}{4}$. If we disregard the extra term $\frac{(n-1)(n-3)}{4} \int_{\mathbb{H}^n} \frac{\phi^2(x)}{\sinh^2 d(o,x)} dx$, the variation can be understood to include an additional L^2 -norm $\|\phi\|_{\mathbb{H}^n}^2$ with factor $\lambda_0(\mathbb{H}^n)$ at the expense of the constant in front of the "Hardy" term $\int_{\mathbb{H}^n} \frac{\phi^2(x)}{d(o,x)^2} dx$. Moreover, it is shown in [8] that the constants in Inequality (1.1) cannot be improved.

Real hyperbolic spaces $\mathbb{H}^n = \mathbb{H}^n(\mathbb{R})$ have constant sectional curvature -1and are examples of non-compact *rank-one symmetric spaces*. Besides them, there also exist the (real 2*n*-dimensional) complex hyperbolic spaces $\mathbb{H}^n(\mathbb{C})$, the (real 4*n*-dimensional) quaternionic hyperbolic spaces $\mathbb{H}^n(\mathbb{H})$ and the (real 16-dimensional) Cayley plane $\mathbb{H}^2(\mathbb{O})$ based on the octonians \mathbb{O} . These spaces comprise (besides the "simple" flat space \mathbb{R}), the class of all non-compact rank-one symmetric spaces, and they are all Cartan-Hadamard manifolds with sectional curvatures within the interval [-4, -1].

All these spaces are also non-compact harmonic manifolds. A spectral geometric characterization of harmonic manifolds is that they are complete Riemannian manifolds on which all harmonic functions ϕ (that is $\Delta \phi = 0$) satisfy the Mean Value Property (that is $\phi(x_0) = \frac{1}{\operatorname{vol}(S_r(x_0))} \int_{S_r(x_0)} \phi(x) dx$ for all $x_0 \in X$ and spheres $S_r(x_0)$ of radius r > 0 around x_0). It was generally assumed (and referred to as the so-called "Lichnerowicz Conjecture") that all simply connected harmonic manifolds should be either Euclidean spaces or rank-one symmetric spaces. This was proved by Z. I. Szabó [45] in the compact case, and it came as a surprise when E. Damek and F. Ricci discovered in 1992 (see [15, 16]) that a whole family of non-compact, non-Euclidean and generally non-symmetric homogeneous Riemannian manifolds were indeed also harmonic manifolds (thus disproving this conjecture in the non-compact case). These spaces where studied before (see [3, 4, 5, 12, 16, 22, 34, 36, 43, 44] for a selection of papers investigating various of their harmonic analytic properties) and they are nowadays called Damek-Ricci spaces. They are solvable extensions NA of 2-step nilpotent groups N of Heisenberg-type (by a one-dimensional abelian group A) with leftinvariant metrics. They are associated with a pair of parameters (p, q) which are the dimensions of particular subspaces of the underlying nilpotent Lie algebra of N. While the parameters (p,q) do not always uniquely determine the Damek-Ricci space we will use for any Damek-Ricci space with these parameters the notation $X^{p,q}$ (by a slight abuse of notation due to this non-uniqueness).

Damek-Ricci spaces $X^{p,q}$ are homogeneous Cartan-Hadamard manifolds of dimension n = p + q + 1, with sectional curvatures in the interval [-1,0]. The rank-one symmetric spaces $\mathbb{H}^n(\mathbb{K})$ for the division algebras $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}, \mathbb{H}, \mathbb{O}$ are – up to scaling of the metric by the constant factor 4 – Damek-Ricci spaces with special choices of the parameters (p,q). In fact, we can write (up to the metric scaling factor 4), $\mathbb{H}^n(\mathbb{C}) = X^{2(n-1),1}, \mathbb{H}^n(\mathbb{H}) = X^{4(n-1),3}$, and $\mathbb{H}^2(\mathbb{O}) = X^{8,7}$. While the real hyperbolic spaces \mathbb{H}^n can also be viewed as solvable Lie groups NA with left-invariant metrics, they are not Damek-Ricci spaces since the group N of \mathbb{H}^n is abelian and not 2-step nilpotent as required for Damek-Ricci spaces. The smallest dimension of a Damek-Ricci space is 4, and the only possible values (p,q) for Damek-Ricci spaces $X^{p,q}$ are given in the following table with $a \ge 0$ and $b \ge 1$ (see, e.g., [43, p. 64]). The derivation of these values goes back to [23, p. 150] and is based on the representation theory of Clifford algebras.

The Damek-Ricci space of smallest dimension which is non-symmetric is the 7-dimensional space $X^{4,2}$. It was shown by J. Heber [21] that any noncompact *homogeneous* harmonic manifold must either be Euclidean, a real hyperbolic space or a (symmetric or non-symmetric) Damek-Ricci space, and it is not known and a challenging open problem whether there exist any further non-compact harmonic manifolds (which must then be necessarily *nonhomogeneous*).

Our main result is that the Poincaré-Hardy inequality (1.1) for \mathbb{H}^n has the following generalization to Damek-Ricci spaces with explicitly given constants:

Main Theorem A. Let $X^{p,q}$ be a Damek-Ricci space with a pole $o \in X^{p,q}$ and $r = d(o, \cdot)$. Then we have for all $\phi \in C_c^{\infty}(X^{p,q})$,

$$\int_{X^{p,q}} |\nabla \phi|^2 dx \ge \lambda_0(X^{p,q}) \int_{X^{p,q}} \phi^2 dx + \frac{1}{4} \int_{X^{p,q}} \frac{\phi^2}{r^2} dx + \frac{p(p+2q-2)}{16} \int_{X^{p,q}} \frac{\phi^2}{\sinh^2(r/2)} dx + \frac{q(q-2)}{4} \int_{X^{p,q}} \frac{\phi^2}{\sinh^2(r)} dx. \quad (1.2)$$

Moreover, the constants on the right hand side of this inequality are optimal and can only be improved at the expense of the other constants.

In this paper, we will also discuss two applications of this inequality as well as various variations concerning the constants appearing in this inequality.

Let us briefly discuss the arguments behind this result. They are based on the fact that, in the case of a simply connected non-compact harmonic manifold (X, g) with a pole $o \in X$, the Laplacian Δ of a radial function h(r) = h(d(o, x))is again radial and given by

$$\Delta h(r) = h''(r) + \frac{f'(r)}{f(r)}h'(r), \qquad (1.3)$$

where f(r) is the volume density of the harmonic manifold. For a general Riemannian manifold (X, g), the volume density $f_o(x) = \sqrt{\det g_{ij}(p)}$ in normal coordinates centered around $o \in X$ is not radial and not independent of the center $o \in X$. In a harmonic manifold (X, g), the volume density is a radial function f(r) and all spheres of the same radius have the same volume. We have

$$\operatorname{vol}(S_r(x)) = \omega_n f(r),$$

with ω_n being the volume of the unit sphere in \mathbb{R}^n . Note however, that this does not mean that a harmonic manifold is a *Riemannian model* as described in [8, Section 4]. In fact, a non-compact harmonic manifold is such a Riemannian model only if it is the Euclidean space \mathbb{R}^n or the hyperbolic space \mathbb{H}^n .

Inequality (1.2) is a consequence of the following general Hardy-type inequality for arbitrary non-compact harmonic manifolds:

Main Theorem B. Let (X, g) be a non-compact harmonic manifold with volume density f. Let $o \in X$ be a pole and $r = d(o, \cdot)$. Then we have, for all $\phi \in C_c^{\infty}(X)$,

$$\int_{X} |\nabla \phi|^2 dx \ge \frac{1}{4} \int_{X} \frac{\phi^2}{r^2} dx + \frac{1}{4} \int_{X} \frac{2f(r)f''(r) - (f'(r))^2}{f^2(r)} \phi^2 dx.$$
(1.4)

Inequality (1.2) is then a consequence of (1.4) by the following explicit expression of the volume density for a Damek-Ricci space $X^{p,q}$ (see, e.g., [43, Théorème 10(ii)]):

$$f(r) = 2^{p+q} (\sinh(r/2))^{p+q} (\cosh(r/2))^q = 2^p (\sinh(r/2))^p (\sinh r)^q.$$
(1.5)

This implies that

$$\frac{f'(r)}{f(r)} = \frac{p}{2}\coth(r/2) + q\coth r = \frac{p+2q}{2}\coth(r/2) - \frac{q}{\sinh(r)},\tag{1.6}$$

and we have for radial functions h(r) in $X^{p,q}$,

$$\Delta h(r) = h''(r) + \left(\frac{p}{2}\coth(r/2) + q\coth r\right)h'(r).$$

Since $\operatorname{coth}(x) \ge 1/x$ and $\sinh x \ge x$, it follows from (1.6) for all r > 0 that

$$\frac{f'(r)}{f(r)} \ge \frac{p+q}{r}.\tag{1.7}$$

Moreover, the L^2 -spectrum of the operator $-\Delta$ on $X^{p,q}$ is given by $\sigma(-\Delta) = [\rho^2, \infty)$ with $\rho = \frac{p+2q}{4}$ (see, e.g., [36, Remark 2.2(iii)]). Therefore, we have $\lambda_0(X^{p,q}) = \frac{(p+2q)^2}{16}$. Since the Cheeger constant of $X^{p,q}$ is given by $h(X^{p,q}) = 2\rho = \frac{p+2q}{2}$ (see [36, Remark 2.2(i)]), this means that Cheeger's Inequality $\lambda_0(X^{p,q}) = \frac{h(X^{p,q})^2}{4}$ holds in this case with equality. In fact, this holds for arbitrary non-compact harmonic manifolds (X, g) (see [37, Corollary 5.2]), and the Cheeger constant agrees with other geometric quantities like the (constant) mean curvature of the horospheres or the exponential volume growth (see [37, Theorem 5.1]).

For readers interested in more details about harmonic manifolds and Damek-Ricci spaces, we provide this information and a description of the real hyperbolic space \mathbb{H}^n as a solvable Lie group with left-invariant metric in the Appendix.

Moreover, since the seminal works of Hardy and Landau on Hardy-type inequalities more than hundred years ago, these inequalities are studied for the more general quasi-linear case P > 1 as well. The inequalities discussed before correspond to the linear case P = 2. We show the related inequalities for $P \ge 2$ in Subsection 3.3.

The structure of the paper is as follows: In the next section, we state and prove the above Main Theorems. Thereafter, we briefly show two famous applications: a version of Heisenberg-Pauli-Weyl's uncertainty principle and a Rellich-type inequality. In Section 3, we vary parts of the proof of the main result and get closely connected families of sharp Poincaré-Hardy-type inequalities. The first variation shows the effect of being slightly away from the bottom of the spectrum at the Poincaré-part of the inequality, the second focuses on the weighted version and the third on the *P*-Laplacian version. In Section 4 we show another Poincaré-Hardy-type inequality for the *P*-Laplacian using the *P*-Green function. Here the focus is on the asymptotic behaviour of the corresponding Hardy weight. This closes the main part of this paper. In the Appendix, we briefly introduce further information about harmonic manifolds and Damek-Ricci spaces.

2 A Poincaré-Hardy-type inequality and applications

This section is concerned with an analogue of [8, Theorem 2.1] for all Damek-Ricci spaces. Before we present this result, we first need to introduce some background. The main reference here is [18]. While the concepts hold in more general Lebesgue and Sobolev spaces, we restrict our considerations to the smooth setting.

2.1 Some background from Optimality Theory

Henceforth we always assume that (X, g) is a non-compact Riemannian manifold. We are also concerned with the associated Schrödinger operators $-\Delta + V$ with potentials $V \in C^{\infty}(X)$ and their corresponding *energy functionals* E_V on $C_c^{\infty}(X)$, which are quadratic forms defined via

$$E_V(\phi) := \int_X |\nabla \phi|^2 + V |\phi|^2 dx$$

We say that E_V is non-negative in X and write $E_V \ge 0$ in X, if $E_V(\phi) \ge 0$ for all $\phi \in C_c^{\infty}(X)$.

Let $\Omega \subset X$ be a domain (that is a non-empty connected open subset). A function $u \in C^{\infty}(\Omega)$ is called *solution* (with respect to the operator $-\Delta + V$) if $(-\Delta+V)u = 0$, *subsolution* if $(-\Delta+V)u \leq 0$, and *supersolution* if $(-\Delta+V)u \geq$ 0 in Ω . Moreover, a function $u \in C^{\infty}(\Omega)$ is called (*super-)solution near infinity* if there exists a compact set $K \subset X$ such that $(-\Delta+V)u = 0$ in $\Omega \setminus K$, (resp., $(-\Delta+V)u \geq 0$ in $X \setminus K$). Furthermore, $u \in \Omega$ is a *solution near* $o \in X$, if there is an open set $O \subseteq X$ containing o such that $(-\Delta+V)u = 0$ in $(\Omega \cap O) \setminus \{o\}$.

Let $W \ge 0$ in X. A Hardy-type inequality then reads as

$$E_V(\phi) \ge \int_X W |\phi|^2 dx$$
 for all $\phi \in C_c^\infty(X)$.

One goal in Optimality Theory is – roughly speaking – to make W as large as possible with large support (confer [1, page 6] where this problem was proposed first). With this idea in mind, Devyver, Fraas and Pinchover came up with a definition of an optimal Hardy weight, see [18, Definitions 2.1, 4.8 and 4.10].

Definition 2.1. Let (X, g) be a non-compact Riemannian manifold and $o \in X$. Let $E_V \ge 0$ in X and $W \ge 0$ be a non-trivial function such that the following Hardy-type inequality holds:

$$E_V(\phi) \ge \int_{X \setminus \{o\}} W |\phi|^2 dx$$
 for all $\phi \in C_c^\infty(X \setminus \{o\})$.

Then W is called an *optimal Hardy weight* of the Schrödinger operator $-\Delta + V$ in $X \setminus \{o\}$ if

1. $-\Delta + (V - W)$ is *critical* in $X \setminus \{o\}$, that is, for any $\widetilde{W} \ge W$ with $\widetilde{W} \ne W$, the Hardy-type inequality

$$E_V(\phi) \ge \int_{X \setminus \{o\}} \widetilde{W} |\phi|^2 dx \quad \text{for all } \phi \in C_c^\infty(X \setminus \{o\})$$

does not hold. This is equivalent to the following (see e.g. [30, Lemma 2.11]): there exists a unique (up to a multiplicative constant) positive supersolution to $-\Delta u + (V - W)u = 0$ on $X \setminus \{o\}$. Such a function is also a solution and is called the (Agmon) ground state u_{Agmon} .

2. $-\Delta + (V - W)$ is *null-critical* with respect to W, that is, we have that $u_{\text{Agmon}} \notin L^2(X \setminus \{o\}, Wdx)$.

The original definition of an optimal Hardy weight also requires a condition called *optimality at infinity* (which is part (b) in Definition 2.1 of [18], or see [30, Definition 2.14]). Recently, Kovařík and Pinchover showed in [30, Corollary 3.7] that in our setting, null-criticality implies optimality at infinity. For that reason, it is not necessary to give the definition of optimality at infinity, since it is covered by Condition 2.

Now we are in a position to present the main result in this section for Damek-Ricci spaces. It is an analogue of [8, Theorem 2.1] which covers the case of real hyperbolic spaces. Recall that Damek-Ricci spaces do not include real hyperbolic spaces and that their smallest dimension is 4. Our proof is inspired by the proof given in Section 4 of [8].

Theorem 2.2 (Poincaré-Hardy-type inequality on Damek-Ricci spaces). Let $X^{p,q}$ be a Damek-Ricci space, $o \in X^{p,q}$ be a pole, and $r = d(o, \cdot)$. We have for all $\phi \in C_c^{\infty}(X^{p,q})$,

$$\int_{X^{p,q}} |\nabla \phi|^2 dx - \lambda_0(X^{p,q}) \int_{X^{p,q}} |\phi|^2 dx$$

$$\geq \frac{1}{4} \int_{X^{p,q}} \frac{|\phi|^2}{r^2} dx + \frac{p(p+2q-2)}{16} \int_{X^{p,q}} \frac{|\phi|^2}{\sinh^2(r/2)} dx + \frac{q(q-2)}{4} \int_{X^{p,q}} \frac{|\phi|^2}{\sinh^2(r)} dx$$

Moreover, the operator $-\Delta + (V - W)$ on $X^{p,q}$ with

$$V(r) := -\lambda_0(X^{p,q}) \quad and \quad W(r) := \frac{1}{4r^2} + \frac{p(p+2q-2)}{16\sinh^2(r/2)} + \frac{q(q-2)}{4\sinh^2(r)}$$

is critical in $X^{p,q} \setminus \{o\}$. In particular, there is no $\widetilde{W}(r) \geq \frac{1}{4r^2} + \frac{p(p+2q-2)}{16\sinh^2(r/2)} + \frac{q(q-2)}{4\sinh^2(r)}, \ \widetilde{W} \neq W$, such that

$$\int_{X^{p,q}} |\nabla \phi|^2 dx - \lambda_0(X^{p,q}) \int_{X^{p,q}} |\phi|^2 dx \ge \int_{X^{p,q}} \widetilde{W} |\phi|^2 dx$$

holds true for all $\phi \in C_c^{\infty}(X^{p,q} \setminus \{o\})$.

Furthermore, if we choose as a weight $W_1(r) = \frac{1}{4r^2}$, then this weight is optimal with respect to the operator

$$-\Delta - \lambda_0(X^{p,q}) - \frac{p(p+2q-2)}{16\sinh^2(r/2)} - \frac{q(q-2)}{4\sinh^2(r)}$$

The proof of Theorem 2.2 is given in the next subsection, and is based on a result known as Khas'minskii-type criterion. During the proof, we formulate a Hardy-type inequality for the more general case of non-compact harmonic manifolds. Subsection 2.3 presents applications of this result: An uncertainty principle and a Poincaré-Rellich-type inequality.

2.2 Proof of the Poincaré-Hardy-type inequality

To prove Theorem 2.2, we will use the following result – known as Khas'minskiitype criterion. This is a variation of Proposition 6.1 in [18], confer also with [24, Lemma 9.2.6]. It is in fact an equivalence (see [2, Theorem 1]) but we only need one direction here.

We start with a non-compact Riemannian manifold X with a chosen point $o \in X$. We refer to o as a *pole* of X.

We need some more definitions, confer with [18, Definition 4.4] and also with [18, Definition 11.2]: Let K be a compact subset of $X \setminus \{o\}$, and let ube a positive function on $X \setminus (\{o\} \cup K)$ which is a solution of $(-\Delta + V)u = 0$ in $X \setminus (\{o\} \cup K)$. The function u has minimal growth at infinity if for every compact $K' \subseteq X \setminus \{o\}$ with smooth boundary such that $K \subseteq \operatorname{int}(K')$ and for every positive supersolution $v \in C(X \setminus (\{o\} \cup K' \cup \partial K'))$ in $X \setminus (\{o\} \cup K')$ with $u \leq v$ in $\partial K'$, we have $u \leq v$ in $X \setminus (\{o\} \cup K')$.

Let u be a positive function defined in a punctured neighbourhood Ω of the pole $o \in X$ which is a solution of $(-\Delta + V)u = 0$ in $\Omega \setminus \{o\}$. The function u has minimal growth at o if for every positive supersolution v in a punctured neighbourhood of o, there is a constant C > 0 such that $u \leq Cv$ in a punctured neighbourhood $\Omega' \subseteq \Omega$ of o.

A global minimal solution is a positive function on $X \setminus \{o\}$ which is a solution of $(-\Delta + V)u = 0$ in $X \setminus \{o\}$, and has both, minimal growth at infinity and o.

Proposition 2.3 (Khas'minskii-type criterion). Let K be a compact subset of X. If u and v_{∞} are two positive functions on $X \setminus K$ which are solutions of $(-\Delta + V)u = 0$ in $X \setminus K$, and if

$$\lim_{x \to \infty} \frac{u(x)}{v_{\infty}(x)} = 0$$

then u has minimal growth at infinity.

If u and also v_0 are two positive functions in a punctured neighbourhood Ω of the pole o which are solutions of $(-\Delta + V)u = 0$ in $\Omega \setminus \{o\}$, and

$$\lim_{x \to o} \frac{u(x)}{v_0(x)} = 0,$$

then u has minimal growth at o.

Proof. The first part is Proposition 6.1 in [18], which is essentially an application of the maximum principle to an exhaustion of the space. The second part follows by a mild adaption of the same argument as in the proof of the cited proposition. \Box

The proof of Theorem 2.2 uses some general explicit calculations for radial functions. These are extracted in the next lemmata. We mainly work in harmonic manifolds and use the explicit form of the volume density on Damek-Ricci spaces as late as possible.

Lemma 2.4. Let (X, g) be a non-compact harmonic manifold with volume density $f, o \in X^{p,q}$ a pole, $r = d(o, \cdot)$, and $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{R}$. Then

$$\Phi(r) = r^{\alpha} f^{\beta}(r)$$

satisfies on $X \setminus \{o\}$

$$\Delta \Phi(r) = \left(\frac{\alpha(\alpha - 1)}{r^2} + \alpha(2\beta + 1)\frac{f'(r)}{rf(r)} + \beta \frac{f''(r)}{f(r)} + \beta^2 \frac{(f'(r))^2}{f(r)^2}\right) \Phi(r).$$

In particular, if $(\alpha, \beta) = (1/2, -1/2)$, we have on $X \setminus \{o\}$,

$$\Delta \Phi(r) = \left(\frac{(f'(r))^2 - 2f(r)f''(r)}{4f(r)^2} - \frac{1}{4r^2}\right)\Phi(r).$$

Proof. For simplicity, we will drop the argument r in our computations. Differentiation yields

$$\Phi' = \alpha r^{\alpha - 1} f^{\beta} + \beta r^{\alpha} f^{\beta - 1} f'$$

and

$$\Phi'' = \alpha(\alpha - 1)r^{\alpha - 2}f^{\beta} + 2\alpha\beta r^{\alpha - 1}f^{\beta - 1}f' + \beta(\beta - 1)r^{\alpha}f^{\beta - 2}(f')^{2} + \beta r^{\alpha}f^{\beta - 1}f''.$$

Using (1.3) and substituting Φ back into the Laplace equation leads to

$$\Delta \Phi = \Phi'' + \frac{f'}{f} \Phi' = \left(\frac{\alpha(\alpha - 1)}{r^2} + \frac{\alpha(2\beta + 1)f'}{rf} + \frac{\beta f''}{f} + \frac{\beta^2(f')^2}{f^2}\right) \Phi. \quad \Box$$

In the proof of the main results, we want to apply the Khas'minskii-type criterion, Proposition 2.3. Therefore, we need to find a second positive solution. This is done next.

Lemma 2.5. Let (X, g) be a non-compact harmonic manifold with volume density $f, o \in X$ a pole, $r = d(o, \cdot)$, and $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{R}$. Furthermore, set

$$\Phi(r) = r^{\alpha} f^{\beta}(r).$$

Let $h: X \setminus \{o\} \to \mathbb{R}$ be a smooth radial function, then on $X \setminus \{o\}$ we have

$$\begin{split} \Delta(\Phi h)(r) \\ &- \left(\frac{\alpha(\alpha-1)}{r^2} + \frac{\alpha(2\beta+1)f'(r)}{rf(r)} + \frac{\beta f(r)f''(r) + \beta^2(f'(r))^2}{f^2(r)}\right)(\Phi(r)h(r)) \\ &= \Phi(r)\left(h''(r) + \left(\frac{2\alpha}{r} + \frac{(2\beta+1)f'(r)}{f(r)}\right)h'(r)\right). \end{split}$$

In particular, the right-hand side vanishes for $(\alpha, \beta, h(r)) = (1/2, -1/2, \ln(r))$.

 $\mathit{Proof.}$ In the following, we omit again the argument r. By the product rule, we have

$$\Delta(\Phi h) = \Phi \Delta h + h \Delta \Phi + 2\Phi' h'.$$

Using this rule and Lemma 2.4, we obtain

$$\Delta(\Phi h) - \left(\frac{\alpha(\alpha - 1)}{r^2} + \frac{\alpha(2\beta + 1)f'}{rf} + \frac{\beta f''}{f} + \frac{\beta^2(f')^2}{f^2}\right)(\Phi h) = \Phi \Delta h + 2\Phi' h'.$$

Using once more that h is radial, i.e., $\Delta h = h'' + \frac{f'}{f}h'$, and that

$$\Phi' = \alpha r^{\alpha - 1} f^{\beta} + \beta r^{\alpha} f^{\beta - 1} f' = \left(\frac{\alpha}{r} + \frac{\beta f'}{f}\right) \Phi,$$

we obtain

$$\Phi\Delta h + 2\Phi'h' = \Phi\left(h'' + \left(\frac{2\alpha}{r} + \frac{(2\beta+1)f'}{f}\right)h'\right).$$

This shows the first part of the statement. The other assertion follows by a simple computation. $\hfill \Box$

Finally, we will need the following lemma, which is a special case of the Agmon-Allegretto-Piepenbrink theorem, see [39, Theorem 2.3] and see also Lemma 3.6. We remark that the implication in the lemma below is actually an equivalence, i.e., the non-negativity of the energy functional implies also the existence of a positive (super)solution.

Lemma 2.6 (see [17, Theorem 1.5.12]). Let $\Omega \subset X$ be a domain in a Riemannian manifold $(X, g), H := -\Delta + V - W$, and $\Phi \in C^{\infty}(\Omega)$ be a positive solution of $H\Phi = 0$ on Ω . Then we have, for all $\phi \in C_c^{\infty}(\Omega)$,

$$\int_{\Omega} |\nabla \phi|^2 dx \ge \int_{\Omega} (W - V) \phi^2 dx.$$

Proof. Set $\phi = \Phi \psi$ with $\psi \in C_c^{\infty}(\Omega)$. Then we have, by Green's formula,

$$\int_{\Omega} |\nabla \phi|^2 dx \ge \int_{\Omega} \langle \nabla (\psi^2 \Phi), \nabla \Phi \rangle dx = -\int_{\Omega} \psi^2 \Phi(\Delta \Phi) dx = \int_{\Omega} (W - V) \phi^2 dx.$$

We link the previous lemmata and the Khas'minskii-type criterion to obtain the following Hardy-type inequality on general harmonic manifolds, which is our Main Theorem B in the Introduction.

Theorem 2.7 (Hardy-type inequality on harmonic manifolds). Let (X, g) be a non-compact harmonic manifold with volume density f = f(r), $o \in X$ a pole, and $r = d(o, \cdot)$. Then, the Schrödinger operator $-\Delta + (V - W)$ on X with

$$V(r) := \frac{(f'(r))^2 - 2f(r)f''(r)}{4f^2(r)} \quad and \quad W(r) := \frac{1}{4r^2}$$

is critical in $X \setminus \{o\}$ with ground state $\sqrt{r/f(r)}$. Moreover, the weight $W(r) = \frac{1}{4r^2}$ is optimal in $X \setminus \{o\}$ with respect to the operator $-\Delta + V$.

Furthermore, for all $\phi \in C_c^{\infty}(X)$, we have

$$\int_{X} |\nabla \phi|^2 dx \ge \frac{1}{4} \int_{X} \frac{\phi^2}{r^2} dx + \frac{1}{4} \int_{X} \frac{2f(r)f''(r) - (f'(r))^2}{f^2(r)} \cdot \phi^2 dx.$$
(2.1)

Proof. The first part of the proof uses the same ideas as the proof of [18, Theorem 6.2] doing the necessary changes. The second part is motivated by [8]. Here are the details:

Let us denote $H := -\Delta + V - W$. By Lemma 2.4 and Lemma 2.5 applied with $(\alpha, \beta) = (1/2, -1/2)$, we see that $\Phi(r) = r^{1/2} f^{-1/2}(r)$ and $\Phi(r) \cdot \ln(r)$, are solutions on $X \setminus \{o\}$ with respect to H. Moreover, we obviously have

$$\lim_{r \to \infty} \frac{\Phi(r)}{\Phi(r) \ln(r)} = 0$$

By the Khas'minskii-type criterion, Proposition 2.3, we get that Φ is a positive solution of minimal growth near infinity in X.

By the same argument and using $-\Phi(r)\ln(r)$ instead of $\Phi(r)\ln(r)$, we see that Φ has minimal growth near o in $X \setminus \{o\}$.

Since Φ is a solution in $X \setminus \{o\}$ and of minimal growth near infinity and o, it is a global minimal solution in $X \setminus \{o\}$. By [40, Theorems 4.2 and 5.8], it has to be the (Agmon) ground state in $X \setminus \{o\}$ which is the unique positive supersolution of H in $X \setminus \{o\}$. Thus, H is critical in $X \setminus \{o\}$.

Let now $W(r) = 1/(2r)^2$. Since

$$\|\Phi\|_{L^2(X\setminus\{o\},Wdx)}^2 = \omega_n \int_0^\infty (r^{1/2} f(r)^{-1/2})^2 f(r) \frac{dr}{(2r)^2} = \infty,$$

we conclude that $-\Delta + V$ is null-critical with respect to W, and thus W is an optimal Hardy weight of $-\Delta + V$ in $X \setminus \{o\}$.

Inequality (2.1) can be seen as follows: Since Φ is a strictly positive solution of $H\Phi = 0$ on $X \setminus \{o\}$, we obtain the desired inequality on $C_c^{\infty}(X \setminus \{o\})$ by Lemma 2.6. Next we briefly explain how to extend the inequality from $C_c^{\infty}(X \setminus \{o\})$ to $C_c^{\infty}(X)$ (this is a standard argument but we could not find a good reference in the Schrödinger operator setting; for the *p*-Laplacian see [14, Appendix A]): By [40, Theorem 4.5], the capacity of $\{o\}$ vanishes, i.e., there is a sequence (ϕ_j) in $C_0^{\infty}(X)$ such that $0 \leq \phi_j \leq 1$, $\phi_j = 1$ in a neighbourhood of $\{o\}$ and $\phi_j \to 0$ in $D_0(X) = \overline{C_c^{\infty}(X)}^{|\cdot|_0}$ where $|\cdot|_0$ denotes the form norm. The latter is defined via $|\phi|_0^2 := E_V(\phi) + |\cdot|^2$. In particular, $E_V(\phi_j) \to 0$. We set $\psi_j := (1 - \phi_j)\psi$, where ψ is an arbitrary function in $C_c^{\infty}(X)$. Now it follows $\psi_j \to \psi$ in $D_0(X \setminus \{o\})$ similarly as in [14, Appendix A]): One can use dominated convergence for the potential part and then proceed with mild changes (note that the last step there is just another application of [40, Theorem 4.5]).

We now turn to Damek-Ricci spaces and explicitly calculate the term $\frac{2ff''-(f')^2}{f^2}$. Later we will need similar calculations, and therefore, we state it here more generally.

Lemma 2.8. Let $X^{p,q}$ be a Damek-Ricci space, $o \in X^{p,q}$ a pole and $r = d(o, \cdot)$. Let f(r) be the volume density of $X^{p,q}$. Then, for all $a, b \in \mathbb{R}$ and r > 0, we have

$$a\left(\frac{f'(r)}{f(r)}\right)^2 - b\frac{f''(r)}{f(r)}$$

= 4(a - b)\lambda_0(X^{p,q}) + \frac{q(q(a - b) + b)}{\sinh^2(r)} + \frac{p((a - b)(p + 2q) + b)}{4\sinh^2(r/2)}.

Proof. Recall that

$$f(r) = 2^{p+q} (\sinh(r/2))^{p+q} (\cosh(r/2))^q.$$

Straightforward computations yield

$$f'(r) = \frac{f(r)}{2} ((p+q) \coth(r/2) + q \tanh(r/2)).$$

and

$$f''(r) = \frac{f(r)}{4} \left(\left((p+q) \coth(r/2) + q \tanh(r/2) \right)^2 - \frac{p+q}{\sinh^2(r/2)} + \frac{q}{\cosh^2(r/2)} \right).$$

Note, furthermore, that for all $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{R}$

$$\frac{\alpha}{\sinh^2(r/2)} - \frac{\beta}{\cosh^2(r/2)} = \frac{\alpha - \beta}{\sinh^2(r/2)} + \frac{4\beta}{\sinh^2(r)}$$

and

$$\left(\alpha \coth(r/2) + \beta \tanh(r/2)\right)^2 = (\alpha + \beta)^2 + \frac{4\beta^2}{\sinh^2(r)} + \frac{\alpha^2 - \beta^2}{\sinh^2(r/2)}.$$

Hence,

$$a\left(\frac{f'(r)}{f(r)}\right)^2 - b\frac{f''(r)}{f(r)} = \frac{(a-b)(p+2q)^2}{4} + \frac{q(q(a-b)+b)}{\sinh^2(r)} + \frac{p((a-b)(p+2q)+b)}{4\sinh^2(r/2)}.$$

Using the fact that $\lambda_0(X^{p,q}) = (p+2q)^2/16$, the statement follows.

Note that we obtain from this lemma for the special choice (a, b) = (1/4, 1/2):

$$\frac{2f(r)f''(r) - (f'(r))^2}{4(f(r))^2} = \lambda_0(X^{p,q}) + \frac{q(q-2)}{4\sinh^2(r)} + \frac{p(p+2q-2)}{16\sinh^2(r/2)}.$$
 (2.2)

Lemma 2.9. Let $X^{p,q}$ be a Damek-Ricci space, $o \in X^{p,q}$ a pole and $r = d(o, \cdot)$. Let f(r) be the volume density of $X^{p,q}$ and

$$\Phi(r) = r^{1/2} f^{-1/2}(r).$$

Then we have on $X^{p,q} \setminus \{o\}$

$$-\Delta\Phi(r) - \lambda_0(X^{p,q})\Phi(r) = \left(\frac{p(p+2q-2)}{16\sinh^2(r/2)} + \frac{q(q-2)}{4\sinh^2(r)} + \frac{1}{4r^2}\right)\Phi(r).$$

Proof. The statement of the lemma is a direct application of Lemma 2.4 by choosing $(\alpha, \beta) = (1/2, -1/2)$, and of (2.2).

Finally, we are in a position to prove Theorem 2.2.

Proof of Theorem 2.2. The result follows by applying Lemma 2.9 and Theorem 2.7. $\hfill \Box$

2.3 Applications of the Poincaré-Hardy-type inequality

This subsection is devoted to two well-known applications of Hardy-type inequalities, which can be obtained easily in combination with the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality: an uncertainty-type principle and a Rellich-type inequality.

2.3.1 A Heisenberg-Pauli-Weyl's Uncertainty Principle

Here, we briefly show a shifted version of the famous Heisenberg-Pauli-Weyl uncertainty principle. It asserts in its classical form, that the position and momentum of a particle can not be determined simultaneously. For further information confer e.g. [6, Subsection 1.6] for a detailed discussion in the Euclidean space, [28, 29, 32] for Riemannian manifolds, or [9, Section 3] for a recent version in the hyperbolic space.

Recall that the dimension of a Damek-Ricci space is at least 4, i.e., $p+q \ge 3$.

Corollary 2.10. Let $X^{p,q}$ be a Damek-Ricci space with $q \notin \{0,2\}$ and $p \neq 0$, $o \in X^{p,q}$ a pole, and $r = d(o, \cdot)$. Then, we have for all $\phi \in C_c^{\infty}(X^{p,q})$,

$$\left(\int_{X^{p,q}} |\nabla \phi|^2 dx - \lambda_0(X^{p,q}) \int_{X^{p,q}} \phi^2 \right) \left(\int_{X^{p,q}} g(r) r^2 \phi^2 dx \right)$$
$$\geq \frac{1}{4} \left(\int_{X^{p,q}} \phi^2 dx \right)^2,$$

with a function 0 < g < 1.

In fact, the function g in the corollary is explicitly given by

$$g(r) = \frac{1}{4r^2 W(r)}$$
(2.3)

with

$$W(r) := \frac{1}{4r^2} + \frac{p(p+2q-2)}{16} \frac{1}{\sinh^2(r/2)} + \frac{q(q-2)}{4} \frac{1}{\sinh^2(r)}$$

Note that we have $W(r) > 1/(2r)^2$, even for the smallest choice $p \ge 2$ and q = 1.

Proof. By the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality and the Poincaré-Hardy-type inequality (Theorem 2.2), we obtain

$$\left(\int_{X^{p,q}} \phi^2 dx\right)^2 \le \left(\int_{X^{p,q}} W \phi^2 dx\right) \left(\int_{X^{p,q}} \frac{\phi^2}{W} dx\right)$$
$$\le \left(\int_{X^{p,q}} |\nabla \phi|^2 dx - \lambda_0 (X^{p,q}) \int_{X^{p,q}} \phi^2 dx\right) \left(\int_{X^{p,q}} \frac{\phi^2}{W} dx\right).$$

Since $1/W(r) = 4g(r)r^2$ we obtain the desired inequality.

2.3.2 A Poincaré-Rellich-type inequality

Next, we show a shifted Rellich-type inequality. For more details on the history and generalisations of this inequality in different settings, we suggest the papers [9, 25, 28, 29] and the monograph [6], and references therein.

Corollary 2.11. Let $X^{p,q}$ be a Damek-Ricci space with $q \notin \{0,2\}$ and $p \neq 0$, $o \in X^{p,q}$ a pole, and $r = d(o, \cdot)$. Then, we have for all $\phi \in C_c^{\infty}(X^{p,q})$,

$$\int_{X^{p,q}} \frac{\phi^2}{16g(r)r^2} dx \le \int_{X^{p,q}} g(r)r^2 (-\Delta\phi - \lambda_0(X^{p,q})\phi)^2 dx,$$

with the function 0 < g < 1 from (2.3).

Proof. Let us denote as before,

$$W(r) := \frac{1}{4r^2} + \frac{p(p+2q-2)}{16} \frac{1}{\sinh^2(r/2)} + \frac{q(q-2)}{4} \frac{1}{\sinh^2(r)}$$

Moreover, we set $H := -\Delta - \lambda_0(X^{p,q})$. Then, again by the Poincaré-Hardytype inequality (Theorem 2.2), the Green's formula and the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \int_{X^{p,q}} W(r) \phi^2 dx &\leq \int_{X^{p,q}} \phi H \phi dx \\ &\leq \left(\int_{X^{p,q}} W(r) \phi^2 dx \right)^{1/2} \left(\int_{X^{p,q}} W^{-1}(r) (H\phi)^2 dx \right)^{1/2}. \end{split}$$

Since $1/W(r) = 4g(r)r^2$ we obtain the desired inequality.

3 Variations of the main result

The aim of this section is to show the effect of perturbations of some parameters. In the first subsection, we will investigate the consequence of changing the function Φ from $(r/f(r))^{1/2}$ to $(r/f(r))^{1/2} \cdot (r/f^{1/(n-1)}(r))^{\gamma}$ for some number $\gamma > 0$. This will then result in a new family of critical Schrödinger operators, where the effect of γ is only visible at the corresponding constants.

In the second subsection, we have a closer look at the weighted version of the Hardy inequality, i.e., we consider the following family of quadratic forms

$$\int_{X^{p,q}} \frac{|\nabla \phi|^2}{r^{2\alpha}} dx, \qquad \alpha \ge 0, \phi \in C^\infty_c(X^{p,q}),$$

and show the effect of $\alpha > 0$. In a different perspective, this new weighted energy form is a specific ground state transform of the unweighted energy form.

Finally, in the third subsection, we vary the operator and consider quasilinear P-Laplacians, $P \ge 2$. Here the classical linear case corresponds to P = 2.

3.1 A family of Hardy-type inequalities

In the previous section, we investigated a Hardy-type theorem for the operator $-\Delta - \frac{1}{4r^2}$ on harmonic manifolds. Now, we will use this result to obtain similar inequalities for the operators $-\Delta - \frac{a}{4r^2}$ for $0 \le a \le 1$. The main result of this section reads as follows and is inspired by the corresponding result on hyperbolic spaces, see [9, Theorem 2.1]:

Theorem 3.1 (Family of Hardy-type inequalities on harmonic manifolds). Let (X,g) be a non-compact harmonic manifold with volume density $f, o \in X$ a pole, $r = d(o, \cdot)$, and dimension $n \ge 3$. Let $h: X \setminus \{o\} \to (0, \infty)$ be a smooth radial function satisfying $h(r) \ge C_1 r$ for all $r \ge 0$ and $h(r) \sim C_2 r$ as $r \to 0$

for some positive constants $C_1, C_2 > 0$. Then, for all $\phi \in C_c^{\infty}(X)$ and all $\gamma \in [0, 1/2]$,

$$\int_{X} |\nabla \phi|^{2} dx \geq \frac{1 - (2\gamma)^{2}}{4} \int_{X} \frac{\phi^{2}}{r^{2}} dx + \int_{X} \left(\left(\frac{1}{2} \frac{f''}{f} - \frac{1}{4} \left(\frac{f'}{f} \right)^{2} \right) + \gamma \left(\frac{h''}{h} + (1 + 2\gamma) \frac{h'}{rh} - (1 + \gamma) \left(\frac{h'}{h} \right)^{2} \right) \right) \phi^{2} dx.$$
(3.1)

Moreover, the Schrödinger operator $-\Delta + V - W$ with

$$V(r) := -\left(\frac{1}{2}\frac{f''}{f} - \frac{1}{4}\left(\frac{f'}{f}\right)^2\right) + \gamma\left(\frac{h''}{h} - (1+2\gamma)\frac{h'}{rh} - (1+\gamma)\left(\frac{h'}{h}\right)^2\right)$$

and

$$W(r) := \frac{1 - (2\gamma)^2}{4r^2}$$

is critical in $X \setminus \{o\}$ with ground state $r^{1/2+\gamma}f^{-1/2}h^{-\gamma}$. Furthermore, if we choose as weight $W(r) = \frac{1-(2\gamma)^2}{4r^2}$, $0 \le \gamma < 1/2$, then W is optimal in $X \setminus \{o\}$ with respect to $-\Delta + V$.

Note that Theorem 2.2 can be recovered from Theorem 3.1 if we set $\gamma = 0$.

We derive this result with the help of the Liouville comparison theorem. For the readers' convenience, we state it here (see also [9, Theorem 6.3]).

Proposition 3.2 (Liouville comparison principle, Theorem 1.7 in [38]). Let Ω be a domain in a non-compact n-dimensional Riemannian manifold. Consider two Schrödinger operators on Ω defined via

$$H_i = -\Delta + V_i, \qquad i = 0, 1,$$

with smooth potentials. Furthermore, assume that

- 1. H_0 is critical in Ω with ground state Φ ;
- 2. H_1 is non-negative in Ω and there is a function $\Psi \in C^{\infty}(\Omega)$ with $H_1 \Psi \leq 0$ with $\Psi_+ \neq 0$, where $\Psi_+(x) = \max\{\Psi(x), 0\}$.
- 3. There exists a constant C > 0 such that $(\Psi_+)^2 \leq C(\Phi)^2$.

Then the operator H_1 is critical with ground state Ψ .

Proof of Theorem 3.1. Let $h: X \setminus \{o\} \to (0, \infty)$ be a smooth radial function satisfying $h(r) \ge Cr$ for some positive constant C > 0. Applying Lemma 2.5 with $\tilde{\Phi} = r^{\alpha} f^{\beta}$ and $(\alpha, \beta) = (1/2 + \gamma, -1/2)$ yields

$$-\Delta(\tilde{\Phi}h^{-\gamma})(r) + \left(\frac{\gamma^2 - 1/4}{r^2} + \frac{1}{4}\left(\frac{f'(r)}{f(r)}\right)^2 - \frac{1}{2}\frac{f''(r)}{f(r)}\right)\tilde{\Phi}(r)h^{-\gamma}(r) \\ = -\left(\gamma(\gamma+1)\left(\frac{h'(r)}{h(r)}\right)^2 - \gamma\frac{h''(r)}{h(r)} - \gamma(1+2\gamma)\frac{h'(r)}{rh(r)}\right)\tilde{\Phi}(r)h^{-\gamma}(r).$$

Now we apply the Liouville comparison principle with $\Omega = X \setminus \{o\}$,

$$V_0 = -\frac{1}{4r^2} + \frac{1}{4} \left(\frac{f'(r)}{f(r)}\right)^2 - \frac{1}{2} \frac{f''(r)}{f(r)}$$

and, for $\gamma \in [0, 1/2]$,

$$V_{1} = \frac{\gamma^{2} - 1/4}{r^{2}} + \frac{1}{4} \left(\frac{f'(r)}{f(r)}\right)^{2} - \frac{1}{2} \frac{f''(r)}{f(r)} + \gamma(\gamma + 1) \left(\frac{h'(r)}{h(r)}\right)^{2} - \gamma \frac{h''(r)}{h(r)} - \gamma(1 + 2\gamma) \frac{h'(r)}{rh(r)}$$

Let $H_i = -\Delta + V_i$ for i = 0, 1.

We have shown in Theorem 2.7 that H_0 is critical with ground state $\Phi = (r/f)^{1/2}$. Set $\Psi = (r/f)^{1/2} \cdot (r/h)^{\gamma} > 0$ on Ω , that is $\Psi_+ = \Psi$. By construction, we have $H_1 \Phi = 0$, and non-negativity of H_1 on Ω follows from Lemma 2.6.

Since $\Psi/\Phi = (r/h)^{\gamma} \leq 1/C_1$, the Liouville comparison principle implies that H_1 is critical with ground state Ψ . We can then use the same approximation argument as in the proof of Theorem 2.2 to obtain inequality (3.1) for all $\phi \in C_c^{\infty}(X^{p,q})$ and not only $\phi \in C_c^{\infty}(\Omega)$.

Let now $W(r) = (1 - (2\gamma)^2)/(2r)^2$ and $0 < \gamma < 1/2$. Since $h(r) \sim C_2 r^{n-1}$ as $r \to 0$, we have $\Psi \notin L^2(\Omega, W dx)$, and H_1 is therefore null-critical with respect to W. This implies that W is an optimal Hardy weight of H_1 in $X \setminus \{o\}$. \Box

The special choice $h(r) = f^{1/(n-1)}(r)$ leads to the following result which, in the case of Damek-Ricci spaces $X^{p,q}$, can be viewed as Hardy-type improvements of the operators $-\Delta - \lambda$ for $\lambda \leq \lambda_0(X^{p,q})$.

Corollary 3.3. Let (X,g) be a non-compact harmonic manifold with volume density $f, o \in X$ a pole, $r = d(o, \cdot)$, and dimension $n \ge 3$. Then, for all $\phi \in C_c^{\infty}(X)$ and all $\gamma \in [0, 1/2]$,

$$\int_{X} |\nabla \phi|^{2} dx \geq \frac{1 - (2\gamma)^{2}}{4} \int_{X} \frac{\phi^{2}}{r^{2}} dx + \frac{\gamma(1 + 2\gamma)}{n - 1} \int_{X} \frac{f'}{f} \cdot \frac{\phi^{2}}{r} dx + \left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{\gamma}{n - 1}\right) \int_{X} \left(\frac{f''}{f} - \left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{\gamma}{n - 1}\right) \left(\frac{f'}{f}\right)^{2}\right) \phi^{2} dx. \quad (3.2)$$

In the particular case of a Damek-Ricci space $X^{p,q}$, we have

$$\begin{split} \int_{X^{p,q}} |\nabla \phi|^2 dx &- \left(1 - \frac{(2\gamma)^2}{(p+q)^2}\right) \lambda_0(X^{p,q}) \int_{X^{p,q}} \phi^2 dx \\ &\geq \frac{1 - (2\gamma)^2}{4} \int_{X^{p,q}} \frac{\phi^2}{r^2} dx + \frac{\gamma(1+2\gamma)}{p+q} \int_{X^{p,q}} \left(\coth(r/2) - \frac{1}{\sinh(r)} \right) \frac{\phi^2}{r} dx \\ &+ q \left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{\gamma}{p+q} + q \left(\frac{\gamma^2}{(p+q)^2} - \frac{1}{4} \right) \right) \int_{X^{p,q}} \frac{\phi^2}{\sinh^2(r)} dx \\ &+ p \left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{\gamma}{p+q} + (p+2q) \left(\frac{\gamma^2}{(p+q)^2} - \frac{1}{4} \right) \right) \int_{X^{p,q}} \frac{\phi^2}{4\sinh^2(r/2)} dx. \end{split}$$
(3.3)

Proof of Corollary 3.3. Let $h = f^{1/(n-1)}$. Let us first verify that h satisfies the conditions required in Theorem 3.1. Let (X,g) be a non-compact harmonic manifold of dimension $n \ge 3$ and $H \ge 0$ the (constant) mean curvature of its horospheres. We know from a combination of [41] and [35] that non-compact harmonic manifolds with H = 0 are flat (see also [27, Section 6]). In this case we have $f(r) = r^{n-1}$ and, therefore h(r) = r and the conditions of the theorem are satisfied with $C_1 = C_2 = 1$. If H > 0, we have (see [26, Cor. 2.6]) $\lim_{r\to\infty} \frac{f(r)}{e^{hr}} \ge \left(\frac{n-1}{2H}\right)^{n-1} > 0$, and therefore

$$\lim_{r \to \infty} \frac{h(r)}{r} > 0.$$

On the other hand, we have for any *n*-dimensional Riemannian manifold that $\lim_{r\to 0} \frac{f(r)}{r^{n-1}} = 1$, that is, $h(r) \sim r$ as $r \to 0$. Moreover, this implies that

$$C_1 = \inf_{r>0} \frac{h(r)}{r} > 0.$$

It is easy to see that

$$h' = \frac{h}{n-1} \cdot \frac{f'}{f}$$
 and $h'' = \frac{h}{n-1} \left(\left(\frac{2-n}{n-1}\right) \cdot \left(\frac{f'}{f}\right)^2 + \frac{f''}{f} \right).$

Plugging this into (3.1) yields (3.2).

Now we derive the inequality for a Damek-Ricci space with n-1 = p+q. Using Lemma 2.8 with $a = \left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{\gamma}{(p+q)}\right)^2$ and $b = \frac{1}{2} + \frac{\gamma}{p+q}$, we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{\gamma}{(p+q)}\right)^2 \left(\frac{f'(r)}{f(r)}\right)^2 - \left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{\gamma}{p+q}\right) \frac{f''(r)}{f(r)} \\ &= \left(\frac{(2\gamma)^2}{(p+q)^2} - 1\right) \lambda_0(X^{p,q}) + \left(q\left(\frac{\gamma^2}{(p+q)^2} - \frac{1}{4}\right) + \frac{1}{2} + \frac{\gamma}{p+q}\right) \frac{q}{\sinh^2(r)} \\ &+ \left((p+2q)\left(\frac{\gamma^2}{(p+q)^2} - \frac{1}{4}\right) + \frac{1}{2} + \frac{\gamma}{p+q}\right) \frac{p}{4\sinh^2(r/2)} \end{aligned}$$

Plugging this into (3.2) yields (3.3), finishing the proof of the corollary.

We want to mention that also other choices of h lead to closely related inequalities. In [9] the choice of h is $h(r) = \sinh(r)$ which is a natural choice for hyperbolic spaces, and our aim was to generalize that result.

3.2 Weighted Hardy-type inequalities

Here, we use the method in [9, Theorem 5.1], which is concerned with the hyperbolic space, to obtain a similar result for arbitrary harmonic manifolds X. Note again that we obtain the main results in the Introduction by choosing $\alpha = 0$ in the following theorem.

Theorem 3.4 (Weighted Hardy-type inequality). Let (X, g) be a non-compact harmonic manifold with volume density f = f(r), $o \in X$ a pole, $r = d(o, \cdot)$, and dimension $n \ge 3$. Assume that $n \ge 2(1 + \alpha)$ for some $\alpha \ge 0$, then the following weighted Hardy-type inequality holds true for all $\phi \in C_c^{\infty}(X)$,

$$\int_X \frac{|\nabla \phi|^2}{r^{2\alpha}} dx \ge \int_X \left(\frac{2f(r)f''(r) - (f'(r))^2}{4f(r)^2} - \alpha \frac{f'(r)}{rf(r)} + \frac{4\alpha + 1}{4r^2} \right) \frac{\phi^2}{r^{2\alpha}} dx.$$

Especially, for such Damek-Ricci spaces $X^{p,q}$, we have for all $\phi \in C_c^{\infty}(X)$ and $p+q-1 \geq 2\alpha$,

$$\begin{split} \int_X \frac{|\nabla \phi|^2 - \lambda_0(X^{p,q})\phi^2}{r^{2\alpha}} dx &\geq \int_X \left(\frac{p(p+2q-2)}{16\sinh^2(r/2)} + \frac{q(q-2)}{4\sinh^2(r)}\right) \frac{\phi^2}{r^{2\alpha}} dx \\ &+ \int_X \left(\frac{\alpha}{r} \left(\frac{q}{\sinh(r)} - \frac{p+2q}{2}\coth(r/2)\right) + \frac{4\alpha+1}{4r^2}\right) \frac{\phi^2}{r^{2\alpha}} dx. \end{split}$$

Proof. Given $\phi \in C_c^{\infty}(X \setminus \{o\})$ and Φ (which we will specify later), we choose $\psi \in C_c^{\infty}(X \setminus \{o\})$ such that $\phi = r^{\alpha} \Phi \psi$. Then, we calculate

$$\frac{|\nabla\phi|^2}{r^{2\alpha}} = |\nabla\Phi|^2\psi^2 + |\nabla\psi|^2\Phi^2 + 2\psi\Phi\langle\nabla\Phi,\nabla\psi\rangle + 2\alpha\frac{\Phi\psi}{r}(\psi\Phi_r + \Phi\psi_r).$$

Note that

$$\frac{\Phi\psi}{r}(\psi\Phi_r + \Phi\psi_r) = \frac{\phi_r\phi}{r^{2\alpha+1}} - \alpha \frac{\phi^2}{r^{2\alpha+2}}.$$

Integrating, using that $\Phi\psi^2 \in C_c^\infty(X \setminus \{o\})$ and Green's formula, we obtain

$$\int_X \frac{|\nabla \phi|^2}{r^{2\alpha}} dx = \int_X (-\Delta \Phi) \Phi \psi^2 dx + \int_X |\nabla \psi|^2 \Phi^2 dx - 2\alpha^2 \int_X \frac{\phi^2}{r^{2\alpha+2}} dx + 2\alpha \int_X \frac{\phi_r \phi}{r^{2\alpha+1}} dx.$$

Changing to polar coordinates in the latter integral, using integration by parts, $f \sim r^{n-1}$ as $r \to 0$ and $n-1 \ge 2\alpha + 1$, and then resubstituting, we get

$$2\int_{X} \frac{\phi_{r}\phi}{r^{2\alpha+1}} dx = \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{S^{n-1}} \frac{(\phi^{2})_{r}f(r)}{r^{2\alpha+1}} d\omega dr = -\int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{S^{n-1}} \left(\frac{f(r)}{r^{2\alpha+1}}\right)_{r} \phi^{2} d\omega dr$$
$$= (2\alpha+1)\int_{X} \frac{\phi^{2}}{r^{2\alpha+2}} dx - \int_{X} \frac{f'(r)}{f(r)r^{2\alpha+1}} \phi^{2} dx.$$

Thus, we obtain altogether

$$\int_X \frac{|\nabla \phi|^2}{r^{2\alpha}} dx \ge \int_X (-\Delta \Phi) \Phi \psi^2 dx + \alpha \int_X \frac{\phi^2}{r^{2\alpha+2}} dx - \alpha \int_X \frac{f'(r)\phi^2}{f(r)r^{2\alpha+1}} dx.$$

Now, as usual, let $\Phi = (r/f(r))^{1/2}$, and recall from Lemma 2.4 that

$$-\Delta \Phi(r) = \left(\frac{2f(r)f''(r) - (f'(r))^2}{4f(r)^2} + \frac{1}{4r^2}\right)\Phi(r).$$

Thus, we get

$$\int_X \frac{|\nabla \phi|^2}{r^{2\alpha}} dx \ge \int_X \left(\frac{2f(r)f''(r) - (f'(r))^2}{4f(r)^2} - \alpha \frac{f'(r)}{rf(r)} + \frac{4\alpha + 1}{4r^2} \right) \frac{\phi^2}{r^{2\alpha}} dx.$$

Moreover, we can use the same approximation argument as in the proof of Theorem 2.2 to obtain $\phi \in C_c^{\infty}(X^{p,q})$ and not only $\phi \in C_c^{\infty}(X^{p,q} \setminus \{o\})$. This finishes the proof on harmonic manifolds.

On Damek-Ricci spaces $X^{p,q}$, we know f explicitly, and by using (1.6) and (2.2) the result follows.

3.3 A Poincaré-Hardy-type inequality for the *P*-Laplacian

In this subsection we want to generalize our Poincaré-Hardy-type inequality to the quasi-linear *P*-Laplacian for $P \in (1, \infty)$.

Let us first introduce the P-Laplacian on a Riemannian manifold (X, g). It is defined as

$$\Delta_P \phi := \operatorname{div}(|\nabla \phi|^{P-2} \nabla \phi).$$

This quasi-linear second order operator reduces to the classical linear Laplace operator Δ in the case P = 2. In the case of a non-compact harmonic manifold (X, g) and a smooth radial function $\phi \in C^{\infty}(X)$ around a pole $o \in X$, the *P*-Laplacian is again radial and given by

$$\Delta_P \phi(r) = |\phi'(r)|^{P-2} L_P \phi(r), \qquad (3.4)$$

where

$$L_P\phi(r) = (P-1)\phi''(r) + \frac{f'(r)}{f(r)}\phi'(r).$$
(3.5)

Moreover, we will need in Section 4 below that harmonicity of a radial function $\phi \in C^{\infty}(X \setminus \{o\})$ with nowhere vanishing derivative is equivalent to the condition that $f |\phi'|^{P-2} \phi'$ is constant. This follows directly from the identity

$$(f|\phi'|^{P-2}\phi')' = f|\phi'|^{P-2}L_P\phi = f\Delta_P\phi.$$

Our aim in this subsection is to prove a quasi-linear version of the Poincaré-Hardy inequality on Damek-Ricci spaces in the spirit of Theorem 2.2. This can be seen as an generalisation of Theorem 2.5 in [7] on hyperbolic spaces to Damek-Ricci spaces. The proof uses basically the quasi-linear version of the ideas from the linear case. Clearly, the terminology of the Optimality Theory in Subsection 2.1 needs to be generalized to the quasi-linear context. However, most of the generalizations are obvious and are not discussed here. We recommend [19] for further details and references. Moreover, we want to mention that the same restrictions on P and the dimension in the theorem below also appear in [7]. **Theorem 3.5.** Let $P \ge 2$, and let $X^{p,q}$ be a Damek-Ricci space of dimension $n = p+q+1 \ge 1+P(P-1)$. Let $o \in X^{p,q}$ be a pole, $r = d(o, \cdot)$, $h := h(X^{p,q}) = (p+2q)/2$ be its Cheeger constant, and

$$\Lambda_P(X^{p,q}) := \left(\frac{h}{P}\right)^P$$

Furthermore, we set

$$g(r) := \coth(r/2) - \frac{2}{p+2q} \left(\frac{q}{\sinh(r)} + \frac{1}{r}\right).$$

Then, $g(r) \geq \frac{p+q-1}{h \cdot r}$ and $g(r) \to 1$ as $r \to \infty$, and we have for all $\phi \in C_c^{\infty}(X^{p,q})$,

$$\int_{X^{p,q}} |\nabla \phi|^{P} dx - \Lambda_{P}(X^{p,q}) \int_{X^{p,q}} g(r)^{P-2} |\phi|^{P} dx
\geq \frac{h^{P-2}(P-1)^{2}}{P^{P}} \int_{X^{p,q}} \frac{g(r)^{P-2}}{r^{2}} |\phi|^{P} dx
+ \frac{h^{P-1}(P-2)}{P^{P}} \int_{X^{p,q}} \frac{g(r)^{P-2}(g(r) + \frac{1}{hr})}{r} |\phi|^{P} dx
+ \frac{h^{P-2}}{P^{P}} \int_{X^{p,q}} g(r)^{P-2} \left(\frac{q^{2} - qP(P-1)}{\sinh^{2}(r)} + \frac{p(2h - P(P-1))}{4\sinh^{2}(r/2)} \right) |\phi|^{P} dx. \quad (3.6)$$

Moreover, all integrands on the right hand side of this inequality are nonnegative functions.

Note again that the special choice P = 2 in the above theorem leads to our Main Theorem A in the Introduction.

The theorem will be obtained with the help of the Agmon-Allegretto-Piepenbrink Theorem. For convenience, we state it here in our smooth setting and for a strong solution. Note that it is a generalization of Lemma 2.6. Moreover, the statement is actually an equivalence but we only state the direction we need.

Lemma 3.6 (see [39, Theorem 2.3]). Let $\Omega \subset X$ be a domain in a Riemannian manifold (X,g), $P \in (1,\infty)$. Let $\Phi \in C^{\infty}(\Omega)$ be a positive supersolution of $-\Delta_P \Phi + (V-W)|\Phi|^{P-2}\Phi = 0$ on Ω . Then we have for all $\phi \in C_c^{\infty}(\Omega)$,

$$\int_{\Omega} |\nabla \phi|^P dx \ge \int_{\Omega} (W - V) |\phi|^P dx.$$

Proof of Theorem 3.5. Set $\Phi(r) = (r/f(r))^{1/P}$ and let L_P be the operator introduced in (3.5). It is not difficult to see (omitting the argument r),

$$L_P \Phi = \left(-\left(\frac{P-1}{P}\right)^2 \frac{1}{r^2} - \frac{P-2}{P^2} \frac{f'}{rf} + \frac{P^2 - P - 1}{P^2} \frac{(f')^2}{f^2} - \frac{P-1}{P} \frac{f''}{f} \right) \Phi$$
$$= -\frac{1}{P^2} \left(\frac{(P-1)^2}{r^2} + \frac{(P-2)f'}{rf} + \frac{(f')^2}{f^2} + P(P-1) \left(\frac{f''}{f} - \frac{(f')^2}{f^2} \right) \right) \Phi.$$

The basic idea is to use Lemma 3.6, i.e., we need to show that Φ is a supersolution with respect to the corresponding *P*-Schrödinger operator, i.e., the value inside the latter parenthesis should be non-negative. Since f'/f > 0 (see [41, Prop. 2.2]), it suffices to prove $(f')^2/f^2 + P(P-1)(f''/f - (f')^2/f^2) \ge 0$. Once this is shown, the lemma provides us with a particular Hardy inequality. However, it seems that we need more knowledge about f to prove non-negativity of this term. Since our Riemannian manifold is the Damek-Ricci space $X^{p,q}$ with the explicit expression (1.5) for the volume density f, we conclude from Lemma 2.8 by setting a = 1 - P(P-1) and b = -P(P-1) and the relation $4\lambda_0(X^{p,q}) = h^2$ that

$$\frac{(f')^2}{f^2} + P(P-1)\left(\frac{f''}{f} - \frac{(f')^2}{f^2}\right) = h^2 + \frac{q(q-P(P-1))}{\sinh^2(r)} + \frac{p(p+2q-P(P-1))}{4\sinh^2(r/2)}.$$
 (3.7)

Using the assumption $n-1 = p+q \ge P(P-1)$, we estimate

$$\frac{q(q-P(P-1))}{\sinh^2(r)} + \frac{p(p+2q-P(P-1))}{4\sinh^2(r/2)} \ge pq\left(\frac{1}{4\sinh^2(r/2)} - \frac{1}{\sinh^2(r)}\right) \ge 0,$$

where we used $\sinh(r) = 2\sinh(r/2)\cosh(r/2)$ and $\cosh(r/2) \ge 1$ for all $r \in \mathbb{R}$ in the last inequality. This shows on the one hand that the last integrand on the right hand side of (3.6) is non-negative, and also that

$$\frac{(f')^2}{f^2} + P(P-1)\left(\frac{f''}{f} - \frac{(f')^2}{f^2}\right) \ge h^2 > 0.$$

Hence, for $P(P-1) \leq n-1$ and $P \geq 2$, Φ is a positive supersolution. By Lemma 3.6, we conclude the non-negativity of the corresponding energy functional.

To finish the proof of the theorem, we only need to analyse $\Delta_P \Phi(r) = |\Phi'(r)|^{P-2} L_P \Phi(r)$. Note that

$$|\Phi'(r)|^{P-2} = \left(\frac{\Phi}{P}\right)^{P-2} \left|\frac{1}{r} - \frac{f'}{f}\right|^{P-2}$$

One could use (1.7) and estimate $\left|\frac{1}{r} - \frac{f'}{f}\right| = \frac{f'}{f} - \frac{1}{r} \ge \frac{p+q-1}{r}$ for a simplification. But we want to take the precise term instead and write with the help of (1.6),

$$\frac{f'}{f} - \frac{1}{r} = \frac{p+2q}{2}\coth(r/2) - \frac{q}{\sinh(r)} - \frac{1}{r} = \frac{p+2q}{2}g(r) = h \cdot g(r),$$

with g and $h = h(X^{p,q})$ defined as in the theorem. This yields the estimate $g(r) \ge \frac{p+q-1}{h,r}$ in the theorem as well as the asymptotics $g(r) \to 1$ as $r \to \infty$.

Substituting (3.7) into

$$(-\Delta_P)\Phi = \frac{h^{P-2}}{P^P}g^{P-2}.$$

$$\left(\frac{(P-1)^2}{r^2} + \frac{(P-2)f'}{rf} + \frac{(f')^2}{f^2} + P(P-1)\left(\frac{f''}{f} - \frac{(f')^2}{f^2}\right)\right)\Phi^{P-1}$$

and using $\frac{f'}{f} = h(g + \frac{1}{hr})$, the inequality of the theorem follows from Lemma 3.6 and the usual approximation argument to extend it to all functions $\phi \in C_c^{\infty}(X^{p,q})$.

Remark. It follows from the proof that inequality (3.6) in the theorem can be simplified by replacing g(r) by the easier lower bound $\frac{p+q-1}{hr} > 0$, but we expect that the corresponding *P*-Schrödinger operator in the theorem is critical on $X^{p,q} \setminus \{o\}$, which would be lost by this simplification.

4 Another Poincaré-Hardy-type inequality for the *P*-Laplacian

In this section we derive the Green function for the P-Lapacian and follow the general arguments given in [11, Section 5.1] (see also [7] for the case of the real hyperbolic space) to obtain a Hardy weight for the P-Laplacian on non-compact harmonic manifolds, which is optimal under a certain condition of the dimension. Similarly as in [11], we also study asymptotics of this Hard weight at the pole.

4.1 The Green function of the P-Laplacian on a non-compact harmonic manifold

The *P*-Green function $G = G_P : X \times X \setminus \{(x, x) \mid x \in X\} \to \mathbb{R}$ is characterised by the following conditions (see, e.g., [33]):

- (a) $\Delta_{P,x}G(x,y) = 0$ for all $x \neq y$,
- (b) $G(x,y) \ge 0$ for all $x \ne y$,
- (c) For all $y \in X$, we have $\lim_{x\to\infty} G(x,y) = 0$,
- (d) If $1 < P \le n$: For all $y \in X$, we have $\lim_{x \to y} G(x, y) = \infty$,
- (e) For all $\phi \in C_c^{\infty}(X)$ and all $y \in X$, we have

$$\int_X \left\langle |\nabla_x G(x,y)|^{p-2} \nabla_x G(x,y), \nabla \phi(x) \right\rangle dx = \phi(y),$$

that is, $-\Delta_{P,y}G(x,\cdot) = \delta_y$ in the sense of distributions.

In the case of a harmonic manifold, we can fix a point $o \in X$ and consider the Green function as a function of the radius, that is, we can write G(d(x, o)) = G(x, o). The Green function of the *P*-Laplacian of the Euclidean space \mathbb{R}^n for 1 < P < n is given by

$$G(r) = \frac{P-1}{(n-P)} \omega_n^{-1/(P-1)} r^{-\frac{n-P}{P-1}},$$

where ω_n is the volume of the unit sphere S^{n-1} in \mathbb{R}^n . Let us now calculate the Green function of the *P*-Laplacian of a non-compact non-Euclidean harmonic manifold *X* of dimension *n* with density function *f*. Recall from Subsection 3.3 that *P*-harmonicity of a radial function $G \in C^{\infty}(X \setminus \{o\})$ with nowhere vanishing derivative is given when $f|G'|^{P-2}G'$ is constant. Assuming G' < 0 and $\lim_{r\to\infty} G(r) = 0$, and setting

$$f|G'|^{P-2}G' = -f|G'|^{P-1} \cong -\beta^{P-1},$$

for some constant $\beta > 0$, we find by integration

$$G(r) = \beta \int_{r}^{\infty} \frac{dt}{(f(t))^{1/(P-1)}}.$$
(4.1)

Since X is non-flat, the mean curvature h of its horospheres must be strictly positive (see, e.g., [27, Corollary 2.8]). This result is a consequence of the fact that X cannot have polynomial volume growth by [41, Theorem 4.2] and that the density function f of X is an exponential polynomial by [35]. Therefore, X must have exponential volume growth and the integral on the right hand side of (4.1) is finite for all r > 0. Let us study $\lim_{r\to 0} G(r)$ for G(r) defined in (4.1). It follows from [46, p. 82] for arbitrary Riemannian manifolds that

$$f(t) = t^{n-1} \left(1 - \frac{s(o)}{6n} t^2 + O(t^4) \right) \quad \text{for } t \to 0, \tag{4.2}$$

where s(o) is the scalar curvature of X at $o \in X$. Consequently, we can find r' > 0 and $0 < c_1 < c_2$ such that, for 0 < r < r',

$$c_1 \int_r^{r'} \frac{dt}{t^{(n-1)/(P-1)}} \le \int_r^{r'} \frac{dt}{(f(t))^{1/(P-1)}} \le c_2 \int_r^{r'} \frac{dt}{t^{(n-1)/(P-1)}}, \qquad (4.3)$$

which implies $\lim_{r \to 0} G(r) = \infty$ in the case $1 < P \leq n$. The Ansatz (4.1) implies

$$G'(r) = -\frac{\beta}{(f(r))^{1/(P-1)}},$$

which shows that the assumption G' < 0 was justified. The arguments so far and the explicit expression for G imply that G satisfies conditions (a), (b), (c) and (d).

It remains to verify condition (e). It is known that non-compact harmonic manifolds do not have conjugate points, since simply connected harmonic manifolds with conjugate points are Blaschke manifolds by Allamigeon's Theorem (see [10, Chapter 6F] or [31, Section 5.1]). We can therefore use global geodesic polar coordinates $(r, \theta) \in (0, \infty) \times S^{n-1} \to X \setminus \{y\}$ around the pole $y \in X$. For simplicity of notation, we switch between points of X and their representations in polar coordinates. We have $\nabla_x G(x, y) = G'(r)\xi(r, \theta)$, where r = d(x, y) and ξ defined on $X \setminus \{y\}$ is the outward unit normal vector field of concentric spheres around y. Consequently, we have

$$\begin{split} \left\langle |\nabla_x G(x,y)|^{P-2} \nabla_x G(x,y), \nabla \phi(x) \right\rangle &= |G'(r)|^{P-2} G'(r) \frac{\partial}{\partial r} \phi(r,\theta) \\ &= -\frac{\beta^{P-1}}{f(r)} \frac{\partial}{\partial r} \phi(r,\theta). \end{split}$$

This implies

$$\begin{split} \int_X \left\langle |\nabla_x G(x,y)|^{P-2} \nabla_x G(x,y), \nabla \phi(x) \right\rangle dx \\ &= -\int_{S^{n-1}} \int_0^\infty \frac{\beta^{P-1}}{f(r)} \frac{\partial}{\partial r} \phi(r,\theta) f(r) dr d\theta = \beta^{P-1} \mathrm{vol}(S^{n-1}) \phi(y). \end{split}$$

This shows that (e) is satisfied if we choose $\beta = 1/\omega_n^{1/(P-1)}$. Therefore the Green function of the *P*-Laplacian of an *n*-dimensional non-compact harmonic manifold is given by

$$G(d(x,y)) = \int_{d(x,y)}^{\infty} \frac{dt}{(\omega_n f(t))^{1/(P-1)}}$$

Moreover, we see from estimate (4.3) that, in the case $n < P < \infty$, the limit $\gamma := \lim_{r \to 0} G(r)$ is a finite positive real number. Note that this expression agrees with the boxed formula in [27, p. 51] for the standard Laplace operator, that is, the case P = 2.

4.2 A Poincaré-Hardy-type inequality for the *P*-Laplacian based on the *P*-Green function

The following theorem is an extension of [7, Proposition 1.1] from real hyperbolic spaces to arbitrary non-flat harmonic manifolds. The proof follows closely the one given in [7] which, in turn, is based on the arguments given in [11, Section 5.1].

Theorem 4.1. Let X be a non-compact non-Euclidean harmonic manifold of dimension n, $o \in X$ a pole, and $r = d(o, \cdot)$. Let $1 < P < \infty$ and G(r) be the corresponding P-Green function. Then we have

$$W := \left(\frac{P-1}{P}\right)^{P} \left|\frac{\nabla G}{G}\right|^{P} \ge \Lambda_{P} := \left(\frac{h}{P}\right)^{P}.$$

In the case $1 < P \leq n$, W is an optimal Hardy weight of $-\Delta_P$ in $X \setminus \{o\}$.

For all $1 < P < \infty$ and all $\phi \in C_c^{\infty}(X)$, we have

$$\int_{X} |\nabla \phi|^{P} dx - \Lambda_{P} \int_{X} |\phi|^{P} dx \ge \int_{X} \widetilde{W} |\phi|^{P} dx$$
(4.4)

with $\widetilde{W} = W - \Lambda_P \ge 0$. Moreover, we have the following asymptotics,

$$\widetilde{W}(r) \sim \begin{cases} \left(\frac{n-P}{P}\right)^P r^{-P} & \text{for } 1 < P < n\\ \left(\frac{P-1}{P}\right)^P |r\log(r)|^{-P} & \text{for } P = n\\ C_{P,f} r^{-\frac{P(n-1)}{P-1}} & \text{for } n < P < \infty \end{cases}$$
(4.5)

where $C_{P,f} = \left(\frac{P-1}{P}\right)^P \left(\int_0^\infty \frac{dt}{(f(t))^{1/(P-1)}}\right)^{-P}$. We also have $\lim_{r\to\infty} \widetilde{W}(r) = 0$.

Proof. Let us first prove the inequality $W(r) \ge \Lambda_P$. Let f be the density function of X. We know from [42, Section 2] that the quotient f'(r)/f(r) is monotone descreasing with $h = \lim_{r\to\infty} f'(r)/f(r)$. Since X is non-flat, we have h > 0. Using $f'/f \ge h$, we obtain

$$\int_{r}^{\infty} \frac{dt}{(f(t))^{1/(P-1)}} \leq \frac{1}{h} \int_{r}^{\infty} \frac{f'(t)dt}{(f(t))^{1+1/(P-1)}} = \frac{P-1}{h} \left(f(r)\right)^{-1/(P-1)}.$$

This implies that

$$\left|\frac{G'(r)}{G(r)}\right| = \left((f(r))^{1/(P-1)} \int_{r}^{\infty} \frac{dt}{(f(t))^{1/(P-1)}}\right)^{-1} \ge \frac{h}{P-1},$$

and therefore

$$W(r) = \left(\frac{P-1}{P}\right)^{P} \left|\frac{G'(r)}{G(r)}\right|^{P} \ge \left(\frac{P-1}{P}\right)^{P} \left(\frac{h}{P-1}\right)^{P} = \Lambda_{P}.$$

Applying [19, Theorem 1.5(1)], we conclude that W is an optimal Hardy weight of $-\Delta_P$ in $X \setminus \{o\}$ in the case $1 < P \leq n$.

Choosing $\rho = G$ in [14, Theorem 2.1], we conclude for all $\phi \in C_c^{\infty}(X_0)$ that

$$\int_{X_0} |\nabla \phi|^P dx \ge \int_{X_0} W |\phi|^P dx$$

for $X_0 = X \setminus \{o\}$ if $1 < P \leq n$ and $X_0 = X$ if P > n. Since $\{o\} \subset X$ is a compact set of zero *p*-capacity, we can apply [14, Corollary 2.3] to extend the inequality to the whole manifold X in the case $1 < P \leq n$. This shows inequality (4.4).

It remains to prove the asymptotics. Let us begin with the asymptotics as $r \to 0$. Note that $\widetilde{W}(r) \sim a(r)$ is equivalent to $W(r) \sim a(r)$ in the case $\lim_{r\to 0} a(r) = \infty$, and it suffices to prove the asymptotics in (4.5) for W instead of \widetilde{W} . Let us first consider the case P > n. Using the estimate (4.3), we conclude that

$$\int_0^r \frac{dt}{(f(t))^{1/(P-1)}} = O(r^{\frac{P-n}{P-1}}) \quad \text{as } r \to 0,$$

and therefore, employing (4.2),

$$\begin{split} \left| \frac{G'(r)}{G(r)} \right| &= \left[\left(\int_0^\infty \frac{dt}{(f(t))^{1/(P-1)}} \right)^{-1} + O(r^{(P-n)/(P-1)}) \right] (f(r))^{-1/(P-1)} \\ &\sim \left(\int_0^\infty \frac{dt}{(f(t))^{1/(P-1)}} \right)^{-1} r^{-(n-1)/(P-1)} \text{ as } r \to 0. \end{split}$$

This shows, in the case P > n, that

$$W(r) = \left(\frac{P-1}{P}\right)^{P} \left|\frac{G'(r)}{G(r)}\right|^{P} \sim C_{P,f} r^{-P(n-1)/(P-1)} \text{ as } r \to 0.$$

Now, we turn to the case 1 < P < n. We have $\lim_{r\to 0} G(r) = \infty$ by property (d) of the *P*-Green function and, by using (4.2),

$$\lim_{r \to 0} rG'(r) = -\frac{1}{\omega^{1/(P-1)}} \lim_{r \to 0} \frac{r}{r^{(n-1)/(P-1)}} = -\infty.$$

We can apply L'Hôpital and obtain

$$\lim_{r \to 0} \frac{rG'(r)}{G(r)} = 1 + \lim_{r \to 0} \frac{rG''(r)}{G'(r)} = 1 - \frac{1}{P-1} \lim_{r \to 0} \frac{rf'(r)}{f(r)}.$$

Note that f'(r)/f(r) is the mean curvature of metric spheres of radius r, and it is well-known for arbitrary Riemannian manifolds that $f'(r)/f(r) \sim (n-1)/r$ as $r \to 0$ (in the case of a harmonic manifold, we have rf'(r)/f(r) = trace(C)with C in [10, 6.33] and the statement follows from [10, 6.36]). Consequently, we have

$$\frac{G'(r)}{G(r)} \sim \frac{P-n}{P-1} \cdot \frac{1}{r} \quad \text{as } r \to 0.$$

From this we conclude that, in the case 1 < P < n,

$$W(r) = \left(\frac{P-1}{P}\right)^{P} \left|\frac{G'(r)}{G(r)}\right|^{P} \sim \left(\frac{n-P}{P}\right)^{P} r^{-P} \quad \text{as } r \to 0.$$

Let us now consider the remaining case P = n. Similarly as before we have $\lim_{r\to 0} r \log rG'(r) = -\infty$ and L'Hôpital yields

$$\lim_{r \to 0} \frac{r \log r G'(r)}{G(r)} = 1 + \lim_{r \to 0} \log r \frac{G'(r) + r G''(r)}{G'(r)}$$
$$= 1 + \lim_{r \to 0} \log r \left(1 - \frac{1}{P-1} \frac{r f'(r)}{f(r)}\right) = 1 + \lim_{r \to 0} \log r \left(\frac{P-n}{P-1} + O(r^2)\right).$$

Here we used the slightly stronger fact that $rf'(r)/f(r) = (n-1) + O(r^2)$ as $r \to 0$ (this follows, e.g., from [20, Lemma 12.2], where an explicit Taylor expansion is given up to the sixth term). Since we assume P = n, we conclude that

$$\frac{G'(r)}{G(r)} \sim \frac{1}{r \log r} \quad \text{as } r \to 0,$$

and therefore, in the case P = n,

$$W(r) = \left(\frac{P-1}{P}\right)^P \left|\frac{G'(r)}{G(r)}\right|^P \sim \left(\frac{P-1}{P}\right)^P |r\log r|^{-P} \quad \text{as } r \to 0.$$

Finally, the proof of $\lim_{r\to\infty}\widetilde{W}(r)=0$ is a straightforward application of L'Hôpital. We have

$$\lim_{r \to \infty} \frac{G'(r)}{G(r)} = -\lim_{r \to \infty} \frac{1/(f(r))^{1/(P-1)}}{\int_r^\infty \frac{dt}{(f(t))^{1/(P-1)}}} = -\frac{1}{P-1}\lim_{r \to \infty} \frac{f'(r)}{f(r)} = -\frac{h}{P-1},$$

and therefore

$$\lim_{r \to \infty} W(r) = \left(\frac{P-1}{P}\right)^P \lim_{r \to \infty} \left|\frac{G'(r)}{G(r)}\right|^P = \left(\frac{P-1}{P}\right)^P \left(\frac{h}{P-1}\right)^P = \Lambda_P.$$

Remark. It follows from [19, Theorem 1.5(2)] that, in the case $n < P < \infty$, an optimal Hardy weight of $-\Delta_P$ in $X \setminus \{o\}$ is given by

$$W := \left(\frac{P-1}{P}\right)^P \left|\frac{\nabla G}{G}\right|^P \cdot \frac{|\gamma - 2G|^{P-2}}{|\gamma - G|^P} \left(\gamma^2 + 2(P-2)G(\gamma - G)\right)$$

with $\gamma := G(0) = \int_0^\infty \frac{dt}{(\omega_n f(t))^{1/(P-1)}}.$

Remark. In the special case of a Damek-Ricci space $X = X^{p,q}$, the asymptotics of W for $r \to \infty$ can be evaluated more precisely by adapting the computations in [7, p.153]: The density function of $X^{p,q}$ is given by

$$f(r) = 2^{p+q} (\sinh(r/2))^{p+q} (\cosh(r/2))^q,$$

the mean curvature of horospheres is given by $h = \frac{p+2q}{2}$, and we obtain with $s = \sinh(t/2)$ and $\alpha = \frac{q}{2(P-1)} + \frac{1}{2}$,

$$(2^{p+q}\omega_n)^{\frac{1}{P-1}}G(r) = \int_r^\infty (\sinh(t/2))^{-\frac{p+q}{(P-1)}} (\cosh(t/2))^{-\frac{q}{2(P-1)}} dt$$
$$= 2\int_{\sinh\frac{r}{2}}^\infty s^{-\frac{p+q}{P-1}} (1+s^2)^{-\alpha} ds = 2\int_{\sinh\frac{r}{2}}^\infty s^{-\frac{p+q}{P-1}-2\alpha} \left(1-\frac{\alpha}{s^2}+o\left(\frac{1}{s^3}\right)\right) ds$$
$$= \frac{P-1}{h} \left(\sinh\frac{r}{2}\right)^{-\frac{2h}{P-1}} -2\alpha \left(\frac{2h}{P-1}+2\right)^{-1} \left(\sinh\frac{r}{2}\right)^{-\frac{2h}{P-1}-2} + o\left(\left(\sinh\frac{r}{2}\right)^{-\frac{2h}{P-1}-3}\right),$$

for $r \to \infty$. This implies that

$$\left|\frac{G'(r)}{G(r)}\right|^{P} = \left(\coth\frac{r}{2}\right)^{-\frac{P}{P-1}\cdot q} \left|\frac{P-1}{h} - 2\alpha\left(\frac{2h}{P-1} + 2\right)^{-1} \left(\sinh\frac{r}{2}\right)^{-2} + o\left(\left(\sinh\frac{r}{2}\right)^{-3}\right)\right|^{-P}$$

and therefore the following asymptotics of W at infinity:

$$W(r) = \left(\frac{h}{P}\right)^{P} \left(\coth\frac{r}{2}\right)^{-\frac{P}{P-1}\cdot q} \left(1 + 2\alpha P \frac{h}{2h+2P-2} \left(\sinh\frac{r}{2}\right)^{-2} + o\left(\sinh\frac{r}{2}\right)^{-3}\right)$$

The corresponding *P*-Rellich inequality can be found in [19, Theorem 7.3], and a quasi-linear version of the uncertainty principle follows by using the Hölder inequality properly (confer with Subsection 2.3).

A Non-compact harmonic manifolds and Damek-Ricci spaces

Let us start with the original definition of a harmonic manifold: A complete Riemannian manifold (X, g) is harmonic if, for all $o \in X$, there exists a local non-constant radial harmonic function, that is, a function g(x) = g(d(o, x)), depending only on the distance to $o \in X$ and satisfying $\Delta g = 0$ on a small punctured neighbourhood of o. There are various other equivalent definitions of harmonicity which can be found, e.g., in [46, p. 224], [10, Prop. 6.21] or [43, Théorème 4]. A very natural way to characterize harmonic manifolds (going back to Willmore) is to require that all harmonic functions satisfy the Mean Value Property. This characterization was given in the introduction.

It is known for any non-compact harmonic manifold that its volume density f(r), $r = d(o, \cdot)$, is a strictly positive exponential polynomial, that is, a finite sum $\sum_{i=1}^{k} (p_i(r) \sin(\beta_i r) + q_i(r) \cos(\beta_i r)) e^{\alpha_i r}$ (see [35, Theorem 2]). Moreover, if a non-compact harmonic manifold of dimension n has sub-exponential volume growth, then it must be isometric to the flat Euclidean space \mathbb{R}^n (this follows from [41]).

Let us now focus on an explicit family of non-compact harmonic manifolds, namely the Damek-Ricci spaces. They are particular Lie groups with left-invariant metrics. Their definition requires some preparation.

A 2-step nilpotent Lie algebra \mathfrak{n} with center \mathfrak{z} and an inner product $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle :$ $\mathfrak{n} \times \mathfrak{n} \to \mathbb{R}$ is called a *Lie algebra of Heisenberg-type* if it has a orthogonal decomposition $\mathfrak{n} = \mathfrak{v} \oplus \mathfrak{z}$ and if the linear maps $J_Z : \mathfrak{v} \to \mathfrak{v}$ for each $Z \in \mathfrak{z}$, defined by

$$\langle J_Z V, V' \rangle = \langle Z, [V, V'] \rangle$$

satisfy

$$J_Z^2(V) = -\|Z\|^2 V. (A.1)$$

A Heisenberg-type Lie algebra \mathfrak{n} comes with the two parameters $p, q \geq 1$ which are the dimensions $p = \dim(\mathfrak{v})$ and $q = \dim(\mathfrak{z})$. The above conditions restrict the possible pairs (p,q), for example, it follows from (A.1) that p needs to be an even number. Let \mathfrak{a} be a 1-dimensional Lie algebra generated by $H \in \mathfrak{a}$, that is, $\mathfrak{a} = \mathbb{R}H$. We extend a Lie algebra \mathfrak{n} of Heisenberg-type to a solvable Lie algebra

$$\mathfrak{s} = \mathfrak{n} \oplus \mathfrak{a}, \tag{A.2}$$

of dimension n = p + q + 1 by setting

$$[H, V] = \frac{1}{2}V$$
 and $[H, Z] = Z$

for all $V \in \mathfrak{v}$ and $Z \in \mathfrak{z}$. We also extend the inner product on \mathfrak{n} to an inner product $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle : \mathfrak{s} \times \mathfrak{s} \to \mathbb{R}$, by setting ||H|| = 1 and requiring that the decomposition (A.2) is orthogonal. We can now give the definition of a Damek-Ricci space.

Definition A.1. A Damek-Ricci space $X^{p,q}$ is the unique connected and simply connected Lie group S = NA associated to the solvable extension \mathfrak{s} of a Heisenberg-type Lie algebra \mathfrak{n} with parameters p, q by $\mathfrak{a} = \mathbb{R}H$, as described above, and equipped with a left invariant metric such that the Riemannian metric of T_eS agrees with the inner product on \mathfrak{s} under the canonical identification $T_eS \cong \mathfrak{s}$, where $e \in S$ denotes the neutral element of S. The space $X^{p,q}$ has therefore the dimension n = p + q + 1.

Finally, let us briefly explain how the real hyperbolic space \mathbb{H}^n can be described as a solvabe Lie group with left-invariant metric, even though this space is associated to a Lie algebra $\mathfrak{s} = \mathfrak{n} \oplus \mathfrak{a}$ where \mathfrak{n} is not 2-step nilpotent but abelian. For that reason, real hyperbolic spaces are not contained in the class of Damek-Ricci spaces.

Example A.2. The upper half space model of the real hyperbolic space \mathbb{H}^n is given by $\mathbb{H}^n = \{(\mathbf{x}, y) : \mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{R}^{n-1}, y > 0\}$ with Riemannian metric

$$g_{\mathbb{H}^n}(v,w) = \frac{\langle v,w \rangle_0}{y^2} \quad \text{for } v,w \in T_{(\mathbf{x},y)} \cong \mathbb{R}^n,$$

where $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_0$ denotes the Euclidean inner product of \mathbb{R}^n . For this space we have $\lambda_0(\mathbb{H}^n) = \frac{(n-1)^2}{4}$.

For the description of \mathbb{H}^n as a solvable Lie group S = NA, we start with the Lie algebras

 $\mathbf{n} = \left\{ n(\mathbf{x}) : \mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{R}^{n-1} \right\} \quad \text{and} \quad \mathbf{a} = \left\{ \text{diag}(0, 0, \dots, 0, t, -t) : t \in \mathbb{R} \right\},\$

where

$$n(\mathbf{x}) = \begin{pmatrix} 0_{n-1} & 0 & -\mathbf{x}^{\top} \\ \mathbf{x} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Let $H = \text{diag}(0, 0, \dots, 0, 1, -1)$. It is easy to see that [H, X] = HX - XH = Xand [X, Y] = XY - YX = 0 for all $X, Y \in \mathfrak{n}$. An inner product on the solvable Lie algebra $\mathfrak{s} = \mathfrak{n} \oplus \mathfrak{a}$ with Lie bracket $[Z_1, Z_2] = Z_1Z_2 - Z_2Z_1$ is given by the requirements that \mathfrak{n} and \mathfrak{a} are perpendicular, ||H|| = 1, and

$$\langle n(\mathbf{x}), n(\mathbf{y}) \rangle = \langle \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y} \rangle_0,$$

where $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_0$ denotes the Euclidean inner product on \mathbb{R}^{n-1} . The map

$$\mathfrak{s} = \mathfrak{n} \oplus \mathfrak{a} \quad \rightarrow \quad S = NA,$$

$$(n(\mathbf{x}), tH) \quad \mapsto \quad \exp(n(\mathbf{x})) \exp(tH) = \begin{pmatrix} \operatorname{Id}_{n-1} & 0 & -e^{-t}\mathbf{x}^{\top} \\ \mathbf{x} & e^{t} & -\frac{1}{2}e^{-t} \|\mathbf{x}\|_{0}^{2} \\ 0 & 0 & e^{-t} \end{pmatrix}$$

is a bijection. If we identify S = NA with $\mathbb{R}^{n-1} \times \mathbb{R}^+$ via

 $\exp(n(\mathbf{x}))\exp(tH)\mapsto(\mathbf{x},e^t),$

the Lie group multiplication in S takes the form

$$(\mathbf{y}, e^s) \cdot (\mathbf{x}, e^t) = (\mathbf{y} + e^s \mathbf{x}, e^{s+t}).$$

In other words, S = NA can be identified with a semidirect product $\mathbb{R}^{n-1} \rtimes \mathbb{R}^+$, where the group operation in \mathbb{R}^{n-1} is addition and the group operation in \mathbb{R}^+ is multiplication.

We transfer the inner product of \mathfrak{s} to an inner product on T_eS via the identification $Z \mapsto \frac{d}{dt}|_{t=0} \exp(tZ)$ and extend it left-invariantly to a Riemannian metric g_S on S. Then the map

$$\exp(n(\mathbf{x}))\exp(sH) \mapsto (\mathbf{x}, e^s) \in \mathbb{H}^n$$

is an isometry between (S, g_S) and $(\mathbb{H}^n, g_{\mathbb{H}^n})$, which implies that (S, g_S) is a model of the *n*-dimensional real hyperbolic space.

Acknowledgements: F. F. wants to thank the University of Durham for their kind hospitality during a stay where the main idea of the paper was worked out. Moreover, F. F. wants to thank Noema Nicolussi for pointing out paper [9], and also the Heinrich-Böll-Stiftung for the support.

References

- S. Agmon. Lectures on exponential decay of solutions of second-order elliptic equations: bounds on eigenfunctions of N-body Schrödinger operators. Volume 29 of Mathematical Notes, Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ; University of Tokyo Press, Tokyo, 1982.
- [2] A. Ancona. Some results and examples about the behavior of harmonic functions and Green's functions with respect to second order elliptic operators. Nagoya Math. J. 165:123–158, 2002.

- [3] J.-P. Anker, E. Damek, and Ch. Yacoub. Spherical analysis on harmonic AN groups. Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa Cl. Sci. (4) 23(4):643–679, 1996.
- [4] J.-P. Anker, P. Martinot, E. Pedon, and A.G. Setti. The shifted wave equation on Damek-Ricci spaces and on homogeneous trees. In: Trends in harmonic analysis, Springer INdAM Ser. 3, 1–25, Springer, Milan, 2013.
- [5] F. Astengo and B. Di Blasio. Huygens' principle and a Paley-Wiener type theorem on Damek-Ricci spaces. Ann. Math. Blaise Pascal 17(2):327–340, 2010.
- [6] A. A. Balinsky, W. D. Evans, and R. T. Lewis. The analysis and geometry of Hardy's inequality. Universitext, Springer, Cham, 2015.
- [7] E. Berchio, L. D'Ambrosio, D. Ganguly, and G. Grillo. Improved L^p-Poincaré inequalities on the hyperbolic space. Nonlinear Anal. 157:146–166, 2017.
- [8] E. Berchio, D. Ganguly, and G. Grillo. Sharp Poincaré-Hardy and Poincaré-Rellich inequalities on the hyperbolic space. J. Funct. Anal. 272(4):1661-1703, 2017.
- [9] E. Berchio, D. Ganguly, G. Grillo, and Y. Pinchover. An optimal improvement for the Hardy inequality on the hyperbolic space and related manifolds. Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh Sect. A 150(4):1699-1736, 2020.
- [10] A. L. Besse. Manifolds all of whose geodesics are closed. Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete 93, Springer-Verlag, Berlin-New York, 1978.
- [11] B. Bianchini, L. Mari, and M. Rigoli. Yamabe type equations with a signchanging nonlinearity, and the prescribed curvature problem. J. Differential Equations 260(10):7416-7497, 2016.
- [12] R. Camporesi. The v-radial Paley-Wiener theorem for the Helgason Fourier transform on Damek-Ricci spaces. Colloq. Math. 144(1):87–113, 2016.
- [13] G. Carron. Inégalités de Hardy sur les variétés riemanniennes noncompactes. J. Math. Pures Appl. (9) 76(10):883-891, 1997.
- [14] L. D'Ambrosio and S. Dipierro. Hardy inequalities on Riemannian manifolds and applications. Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré C Anal. Non Linéaire 31(3):449–475, 2014.
- [15] E. Damek and F. Ricci. A class of nonsymmetric harmonic Riemannian spaces. Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. (N.S.) 27(1):139–142, 1992.
- [16] E. Damek and F. Ricci. Harmonic analysis on solvable extensions of H-type groups. J. Geom. Anal. 2(3):213–248, 1992.

- [17] E. B. Davies. *Heat kernels and spectral theory*. Volume 92, Cambridge University Press, 1989.
- [18] B. Devyver, M. Fraas, and Y. Pinchover. Optimal Hardy weight for secondorder elliptic operator: an answer to a problem of Agmon. J. Funct. Anal. 266(7):4422–4489, 2014.
- [19] B. Devyver and Y. Pinchover. Optimal L^p Hardy-type inequalities. Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré C Anal. Non Linéaire 33(1):93–118, 2016.
- [20] A. Gray and L. Vanhecke. Riemannian Geometry as determined by the volumes of small geodesic balls. Acta Math. 142:157-198, 1979.
- [21] J. Heber. On harmonic and asymptotically harmonic homogeneous spaces. Geom. Funct. Anal. 16(4):869–890, 2006.
- [22] M. Itoh and H. Satoh. Information geometry of Poisson kernels on Damek-Ricci spaces. Tokyo J. Math. 33(1):129–144, 2010.
- [23] A. Kaplan. Fundamental solutions for a class of hypoelliptic PDE generated by composition of quadratic forms. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 258(1):147–153, 1980.
- [24] M. Keller, Y. Pinchover, and F. Pogorzelski. Critical Hardy Inequalities on Manifolds and Graphs. In: Analysis and geometry on graphs and manifolds, Pages 172–202, London Mathematical Society Lecture Note Series, Cambridge University Press, 2020.
- [25] M. Keller, Y. Pinchover, and F. Pogorzelski. From Hardy to Rellich inequalities on graphs. Proc. Lond. Math. Soc. (3) 122(3):458–477, 2021.
- [26] G. Knieper. New results on noncompact harmonic manifolds. Comment. Math. Helv. 87(3):669–703, 2012.
- [27] G. Knieper and N. Peyerimhoff. Noncompact harmonic manifolds. arXiv:1302.3841.
- [28] I. Kombe and M. Ozaydin. Improved Hardy and Rellich inequalities on Riemannian manifolds. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 361(12):6191–6203, 2009.
- [29] I. Kombe and M. Özaydin. Hardy-Poincaré, Rellich and uncertainty principle inequalities on Riemannian manifolds. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 365(10):5035-5050, 2013.
- [30] H. Kovařík and Y. Pinchover. On minimal decay at infinity of Hardyweights. Commun. Contemp. Math. 22(5):18, 2020. Id/No 1950046.
- [31] P. Kreyssig. An Introduction to Harmonic Manifolds and the Lichnerowicz Conjecture. arXiv:1007.0477.

- [32] A. Kristály. Sharp uncertainty principles on Riemannian manifolds: the influence of curvature. J. Math. Pures Appl. (9) 119:326–346, 2018.
- [33] T. Kura. On the Green function of the p-Laplace equation for Riemannian manifolds. Proc. Japan Acad. 75(A):37-38, 1999.
- [34] D. Müller and M. Vallarino. Wave equation and multiplier estimates on Damek-Ricci spaces. J. Fourier Anal. Appl. 16(2):204-232, 2010.
- [35] Y. Nikolayevsky. Two theorems on harmonic manifolds. Comment. Math. Helv. 80(1):29–50, 2005.
- [36] N. Peyerimhoff and E. Samiou. Spherical spectral synthesis and two-radius theorems on Damek-Ricci spaces. Ark. Mat. 48(1):131–147, 2010.
- [37] N. Peyerimhoff and E. Samiou. Integral geometric properties of noncompact harmonic spaces. J. Geom. Anal. 25:122–148, 2015.
- [38] Y. Pinchover. A Liouville-type theorem for Schrödinger operators. Commun. Math. Phys. 272(1):75–84, 2007.
- [39] Y. Pinchover and K. Tintarev. Ground state alternative for p-Laplacian with potential term. Calc. Var. Partial Differ. Equ. 28(2):179–201, 2007.
- [40] Y. Pinchover and K. Tintarev. On positive solutions of minimal growth for singular p-Laplacian with potential term. Adv. Nonlinear Stud. 8(2):213–234, 2008.
- [41] A. Ranjan and H. Shah. Harmonic manifolds with minimal horospheres. J. Geom. Anal. 12(4):683-694, 2002.
- [42] A. Ranjan and H. Shah. Busemann functions in a harmonic manifold. Geom. Dedicata 101:167-183, 2003.
- [43] F. Rouvière. Espaces de Damek-Ricci, géométrie et analyse. In: Analyse sur les groupes de Lie et théorie des représentations (Kénitra, 1999), Sémin. Congr. 7 (2003), Soc. Math. France, Paris, 45–100.
- [44] F. Rouvière. X-ray transform on Damek-Ricci spaces. Inverse Probl. Imaging 4(4):713–720, 2010.
- [45] Z. I. Szabó. The Lichnerowicz conjecture on harmonic manifolds. J. Differential Geom. 31(1):1–28, 1990.
- [46] T. J. Willmore. *Riemannian geometry*. Oxford Science Publications, The Clarendon Press, Oxford University Press, New York, 1993.



Citation on deposit: Fischer, F., & Peyerimhoff, N. (online). Sharp Hardy-type inequalities for non-compact harmonic manifolds and Damek–Ricci spaces. Israel Journal of Mathematics, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11856-</u>024-2713-y

For final citation and metadata, visit Durham

Research Online URL: <u>https://durham-</u>

repository.worktribe.com/output/3743580

Copyright statement: This accepted manuscript is licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 licence. https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/